

WestminsterResearch

http://www.westminster.ac.uk/research/westminsterresearch

An evidence-based policy for the provision of subsidised fertility treatment in California:

Integration of array comparative genomic hybridisation with IVF and mandatory single embryo transfer to lower multiple gestation and preterm birth rates

Eric Scott Sills

School of Life Sciences

This is an electronic version of a PhD thesis awarded by the University of Westminster. © The Author, 2013.

This is an exact reproduction of the paper copy held by the University of Westminster library.

The WestminsterResearch online digital archive at the University of Westminster aims to make the research output of the University available to a wider audience. Copyright and Moral Rights remain with the authors and/or copyright owners.

Users are permitted to download and/or print one copy for non-commercial private study or research. Further distribution and any use of material from within this archive for profit-making enterprises or for commercial gain is strictly forbidden.

Whilst further distribution of specific materials from within this archive is forbidden, you may freely distribute the URL of WestminsterResearch: (<u>http://westminsterresearch.wmin.ac.uk/</u>).

In case of abuse or copyright appearing without permission e-mail <u>repository@westminster.ac.uk</u>

An evidence-based policy for the provision of subsidised fertility treatment in California: Integration of array comparative genomic hybridisation with IVF and mandatory single embryo transfer to lower multiple gestation and preterm birth rates

ERIC SCOTT SILLS

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of

The University of Westminster

for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

May 2013

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION

I declare that the present work was carried out in accordance with the Guidelines & Regulations as established by the University of Westminster.

This thesis represents my own work, and where any material may be construed as the work of others, it is fully cited and referenced and/or with appropriate acknowledgement given.

4. Sim Silly

Signed: Eric Scott Sills

London, 15th May 2013

Table of Contents

CHAPTER	Pages			
List of Figures	4			
List of Tables	5			
List of Abbreviations	6			
Acknowledgements	7			
Abstract	8-9			
Aims & Objectives	10			
1. Introduction & Background	11-14			
2. Limitations of Conventional IVF	15-17			
3. Array CGH—Technique & Logistics	18-23			
4. How Many Embryos for Transfer?				
4.1. Current Regulations (International)	24-30			
4.2. Proposed Regulations (California)	31-46			
5. Bioethical Considerations & Reproductive Policy Concerns	47-48			
6. The Economics of IVF & Insurance Under 'Obamacare'	49-56			
7. IVF and Population Growth	57-59			
8. Conclusion	60-62			
9. References	63-84			
10. Appendix (author's 2003-2013 publications cited in this thesis)	85-88			

List of Figures

		Page
Figure 1.	Array comparative genomic hybridisation (aCGH) technique	20
Figure 2.	Workflow comparison between traditional IVF and IVF incorporating aCGH, including fresh transfer and embryo cryopreservation	21
Figure 3a.	Schematic of total term & preterm California births (2009) stratified by IVF vs. unassisted conception	39
Figure 3b.	Schematic of 2009 delivery costs in California stratified by gestational age at birth	39
Figure 4a.	Distribution of costs associated with singleton & multiple gestation IVF births in California (2009)	41
Figure 4b.	Anticipated delivery costs associated with California IVF births, assuming all patients received single embryo transfers in 2009	41
Figure 5.	Summary of cost differential between delivery outcomes following IVF with multiple embryo transfers vs. single embryo transfers	43

List of Tables

	Page
Table 1.Selected women's healthcare costs (historical) as a function of number of embryos transferred during IVF, per patient.	29
Table 2a. Distribution of multiple gestation deliveries after IVF in California (2009).	32
Table 2b. Distribution of California IVF deliveries by gestational age at birth (2009).	32
Table 3a. Distribution of California IVF deliveries by low birthweight category (2009).	34
Table 3b. Comparison of singleton delivery characteristics, IVF and unassisted conceptions in California (2009).	34
Table 4. Cycle characteristics and outcomes for U.S. IVF patients, by age (2009)	37
Table 5. Health insurance coverage areas required by the U.S. PatientProtection & Affordable Care Act, 2010	52
Table 6. California's State EHB 'Benchmark Plan' (SB 951)2012 Coverage detail	54

aCGH	array comparative genomic hybridisation
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
EHB	essential health benefit
ET	embryo transfer
GA	gestational age (at birth)
HHS	U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services
IOM	U.S. Institute of Medicine (National Academy of Sciences)
IVF	in vitro fertilisation
LBW	low birthweight (infant)
MET	multiple embryo transfer
NICU	neonatal intensive care unit
PPACA	Patient Protection & Affordable Care Act, 2010 ("Obamacare")
PT	preterm (delivery)
SSC	saline-sodium citrate (buffer)
SET	single embryo transfer
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my research supervisor and director of studies Dr. Joanne F. Murray for her guidance, and my scientific advisor Dr. Sharron McEldowney for her positive advice during this research effort. Additionally, I am grateful for the assistance of Prof. Tajalli Keshavarz for his encouragement throughout my work at the University of Westminster. I also remain appreciative to my long-time collaborator Dr. Gary S. Collins, of the Centre for Statistics in Medicine, Wolfson College Annexe, University of Oxford, who provided valuable input as the mathematical models were tweaked, discarded, recalibrated and finally settled.

I am indebted to clinical and academic colleagues on both sides of the Atlantic, who helped shape this thesis by virtue of many spirited discussions. I would like to express my thanks especially to my children (Eric, Mary-Katherine, Ann-Marie, Chaz), as well as my parents for their patience and understanding during my studies. Most importantly, I wish to thank my wife Susann for her unfaltering love and intellectual energy throughout this entire endeavour.

Abstract

Common to other practice settings, standard *in vitro* fertilisation (IVF) in California strongly skews the multiple gestation/preterm birth rate upward to approximately 50% of all deliveries, while unassisted conceptions yield this outcome in only 3% of births. Preterm/multiple gestation babies from IVF are "super-utilisers" and consume a disproportionate share of healthcare resources, particularly during the first year of life. However, early experience with molecular cytogenetic techniques has shown that single embryo transfer (SET) with IVF can now lift pregnancy rates to an acceptable level while not altering the normal multiple gestation problem historically associated with IVF.

Building on the author's previous research in medically assisted reproduction, the current proposal describes a new public health policy to incentivise SET by modifying the California Insurance Code (benchmark health plan), when it may next be revised in 2015. The proposal would partially cover IVF costs for qualified California residents with the proviso that only one embryo is transferred per procedure after comprehensive chromosomal screening of embryos with array comparative genomic hybridisation (aCGH). This investigation considers the interconnected problems of preterm birth and multiple gestation in a demographic context, showing that although the contribution made by conventional IVF to these adverse outcomes in California is numerically minor, substantial costs can still be recovered by redirecting expenditures away from high-risk IVF deliveries when the increased multiple gestation/preterm birth rate from standard IVF is corrected.

This analysis is the first to examine costs calculated for all delivery types in California as a function of antecedent IVF treatment vs. unassisted conception, based on 2009 birth records, and apply this to a new model of comprehensive embryo testing and mandatory SET. These data reveal that even if partially subsidised IVF with aCGH and SET were provided for every California IVF cycle initiated in 2009 (*n*=18,405), the state would still realise a net surplus of at least \$20M per year by stabilising the IVF multiple birth rate at ~3.2%. Thus, California can avoid up to 4,810 iatrogenic preterm/multiple gestation births by shifting the prevailing approach to IVF away from multiple embryo transfers. The proposal is net revenue positive for California because although IVF with aCGH and SET is expensive, the price to obtain this technology is always lower than the cost for one high-risk preterm/multiple birth. While a compelling primary interest exists to lower the multiple birth rate with IVF, this proposal also yields a socially valuable secondary public health benefit by improving general access to this advanced reproductive treatment for all Californians.

Aims

To optimise effectiveness in public health spending in California by lowering the proportion of multiple gestation and preterm births from *in vitro* fertilisation (IVF) in the state, and to equalise access to IVF for all Californians.

Objectives

The following objectives will be informed by evidence primarily sourced from the author's published works and, where appropriate, corroborated with the work of others:

1. To review the process of IVF and to review customary funding structures for IVF in California with an emphasis on how this might be affected by recent changes in health care funding,

2. To calculate IVF's contribution to multiple births and preterm delivery in California, and measure the economic impact of these outcomes,

3. To establish how single embryo transfer (SET) attenuates the problem of multiple births and preterm delivery associated with IVF, and

4. To forecast the recovery of health spend in the context of SET if IVF were partially offset in California with state support.

1. Introduction & Background

Public interest in American healthcare reform was crystallised in the recent enactment of the Patient Protection & Affordable Care Act, 2010 (also known as PPACA or "Obamacare"). While offering essential healthcare coverage for most Americans is the chief aim of this landmark legislation, PPACA also provides an opportunity to resolve two longstanding and closely related health policy challenges affecting a special population: to reverse the rising rates of higher-order multiple gestation/preterm births, and to improve general access to *in vitro* fertilisation (IVF). These two objectives seem to reflect a conflicted, intractable healthcare dilemma, because making IVF (and its customary multiple embryo transfers) more available can be reasonably expected to exacerbate multiple gestation and preterm delivery rates.

Delivery of a healthy singleton live birth is the ideal outcome for all medical infertility treatment. During *in vitro* fertilisation (IVF), multiple embryos are typically transferred because any individual embryo may contain serious chromosomal error, which can result in implantation failure or spontaneous abortion (Sills *et al.*, 2012b). Strategies to improve embryo implantation have included sequential (compound) transfer, whereby embryos are transferred on more than one day (Hayrinen *et al.*, 2012), although this is not routine practice. For each IVF patient who undergoes transfer of more than one embryo at a time—which is the great majority of cases—her treatment culminates with the hope that at least one embryo will successfully implant and bring a healthy pregnancy. Generally, IVF embryos are chosen for transfer based on their appearance as determined by microscopic examination. Selecting embryos for transfer based on

morphologic criteria alone is imprecise, because there is essentially no correlation between the embryo's appearance (morphology during the first several days after fertilisation) and its genomic status (Alfarawati *et al.*, 2011). For example, a significant proportion of aneuploid embryos will demonstrate the highest morphologic score, while some euploid embryos will be of inferior morphology (Alfarawati *et al.*, 2011). Even the most junior embryologist quickly notes how the transfer of poor quality embryos can result in healthy IVF babies, yet normal looking embryos fail to implant after transfer (Sills *et al.*, 2012b). Recently, the continuous morphological evaluation by uninterrupted video monitoring of embryos during *in vitro* culture has been proposed as a way to address some of the shortcomings of standard embryo scoring systems (Campbell *et al.*, 2013). While this approach does offer a fuller picture of early embryo morphokinetics, chromosomal competency of embryos cannot be ascertained by this method. Thus, visually picking the "right" embryo for transfer in IVF remains a high stakes challenge, since less than 15% of embryos may actually implant and grow into healthy infants (U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2008).

Against this background, any expectation that standard microscopic examination of embryos could secure any meaningful surveillance of genetic error before transfer is unrealistic; the traditional practice to select by morphology helps explain why the efficiency of single embryo transfer protocols has remained so low. Since many IVF patients will accept a higher twinning risk in exchange for a meaningful reduction in overall treatment failure (Pinborg *et al.*, 2003; Højgaard *et al.*, 2007), multiple embryo transfer has emerged as the mainstream clinical response to this challenge (Sills *et al.*,

2009d). Following this approach, some IVF patients may conclude their treatment with a singleton gestation despite multiple embryos being transferred. Yet, the IVF patient who undergoes transfer of multiple embryos must be prepared for one of two very unsettling outcomes. Either she will not conceive at all, or a multiple gestation will result—the degree of multiple gestation and preterm birth being determined by how many embryos were transferred (Kern, 2009; Sills *et al.*, 2012b). This latter circumstance poses significant risk both for mother and offspring, including increased incidence of preeclampsia, postpartum hemorrhage, hysterectomy and gestational diabetes (Walker *et al.*, 2004), as well as greater risk of preterm delivery, low birthweight infants, cerebral palsy and congenital malformations (Bergh *et al.*, 1999; Sills & Palermo, 2002a; Stromberg *et al.*, 2002; Pinborg et al., 2003).

The health benefits of a single embryo transfer approach were dramatically revealed by a Danish study of IVF outcomes, where cerebral palsy incidence was measured among 1,042 IVF singletons born after only one embryo was transferred. Just one of those babies received a cerebral palsy diagnosis, compared with 21 cerebral palsy cases among IVF singletons born after two or more embryo transfers (Hvidtjørn *et al.*, 2010). In Canada, efforts to mandate single embryo transfer gained momentum when this change in IVF practice was shown to prevent infant deaths and reduce serious complications associated with multiple gestations (Voelker, 2011). Such research illustrates how IVF babies comprise an important class of healthcare 'super-utilisers' (Koivurova *et al.*, 2007). Indeed, a recent study of NICU admissions at one hospital found 75 of 82 infants to be twins or triplets whose mothers relied on IVF to become pregnant. Among those 75

babies there were six deaths, and five more developed severe brain hemorrhage (Voelker, 2011). Such statistics for multiple gestation and preterm birth trace a similar arc as closely interrelated consequences of increased IVF use. Notwithstanding the devastating emotional impact these tragic outcomes have on patients and their families, the fiscal burden on hospital resources is enormous.

Clearly, any public health effort to tackle the alarming costs of multiple gestation and preterm birth will have diminished effectiveness without recognising IVF's contribution to the problem. The most obvious remedy for multiple gestation in the setting of IVF is single embryo transfer, but several factors including an unfavorable reimbursement system have hindered the uptake of this approach (van Peperstraten *et al.*, 2008).

This original research places one of these new technologies, array comparative genomic hybridisation (aCGH), at the center of a treatment initiative designed to address the intertwined healthcare issues of excessive rates of multiple gestation and preterm birth from IVF, while at the same time improving access to this treatment recognised as highly effective in the struggle against infertility. This proposal entails embryo biopsy performed on day five and SET the next day, rather than requiring an embryo transfer be undertaken later in a subsequent frozen transfer cycle. Array CGH has been refined (Sills *et al.*, 2012b) and awaits recognition by government and insurance as a way to incentivise single fresh embryo transfer among IVF patients.

2. Limitations of Conventional IVF

For IVF patients, becoming a parent hinges on the successful completion of a medical odyssey comprising a fretful maze of tests and expensive procedures (Sills *et al.*, 2010c). The complexity and high cost of IVF relates to the interlock of ovarian screening, clinical management during oocyte development, laboratory incubation/culture, and embryo transfer. At present, treatment effectiveness is low especially for older IVF patients with success rates adversely impacted by ovarian ageing (Sills *et al.*, 2009e). Transferring three or more embryos at a time is a common way to address the problem of poor embryo implantation in such cases, although oocyte donation may also be considered (Sills *et al.*, 2010a,b,c).

In general, procedures or treatments which include the laboratory (*in vitro*) manipulation of human spermatozoa, oocytes, or embryos for the purpose of achieving pregnancy are classified as advanced reproductive techniques (Zegers-Hochschild *et al.*, 2009). A typical IVF cycle consists of ovulation induction with injectable gonadotropins to recruit multiple mature oocytes, surgical removal of the mature eggs under anaesthesia, fertilisation of eggs under controlled laboratory conditions to build embryos (Sills & Palermo, 2010), and the transfer of embryos to the uterine interior. Non-transferred (surplus) embryos which remain after fresh transfer may be cryopreserved, with subsequent thaw and transfer to the patient at some later date (Sills *et al.*, 2008; Sills & Murphy, 2009; Sills *et al.*, 2009b). For all patients seeking this elective fertility treatment, only about 20% of IVF attempts (either fresh or frozen) will result in a livebirth (Chambers *et al.*, 2012).

Not every patient who wishes to do IVF will be medically suitable for this treatment, so pre-enrolment testing is essential. This is because fertility potential first declines after age 30 and moves downward rapidly thereafter, essentially reaching zero by the mid-40s (Sills et al., 2009a). The concept of ovarian reserve describes the natural oocyte endowment and is closely associated with female age, which is the single most important factor influencing reproductive outcome. Conceptions at advanced age are exceedingly rare even with IVF, unless oocytes obtained from a younger donor are utilised (Sills et al., 2010b). How best to measure ovarian reserve remains an area of active research (Sills et al., 2009a). Passive assessments of ovarian reserve include measurement of serum follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), oestradiol (E₂), anti-Müllerian hormone (Sills et al., 2011), and inhibin-B. Ultrasound determination of antral follicle count (AFC), ovarian vascularity and ovarian volume may also have a role. The clomiphene citrate challenge test (CCCT), exogenous FSH ovarian reserve test (EFORT), and GnRHagonist stimulation test (GAST) are provocative methods which may be helpful in assessing ovarian reserve (Sills et al., 2009a). Importantly, an IVF patient's prior response to gonadotropins also provides highly valuable information about ovarian function (Sills et al., 1998).

These tests are complemented by the male factor evaluation, also a critical part of basic fertility screening. A standard semen analysis is essential to a thorough reproductive work-up. Recently, other more sophisticated andrology testing has been described to supplement the basic semen analysis before commencing IVF, including assessment of nuclear (sperm) chromatin fragmentation (Sills *et al.*, 2004; Bungum *et al.*, 2012). As

with the female, a general endocrine evaluation may also be indicated for the male since hormonal disruption in the man can impair semen parameters (Saie & Sills, 2005).

Fertility patients not conceiving after multiple IVF attempts typically face a difficult prognosis. The impact of increased refractoriness to IVF on reproductive outcome following transfer of blastocysts (day 5 embryos) has been studied among patients with a history of repetitive failed day three embryo transfers (Walsh et al., 2009b). There is no consensus guiding medical decisions after such multiple IVF failures (Tan et al., 2005), but maternal endocrine, anatomic, immunologic, infectious, and genetic parameters are typically investigated (Christiansen et al., 2006). In circumstances where immunological pathology is suspected as a cause for recurrent miscarriage, corrective therapies can result in pregnancy and healthy delivery (Sills et al., 2004a; Sills et al., 2009c). Yet, because the incidence of chromosomal abnormality is higher in embryos from patients experiencing multiple IVF failures (Voullaire et al., 2007), much attention has been focused on embryo genetics as the most important reason for poor IVF outcomes. Blastocyst nidation is impaired in the setting of embryo aneuploidy, making this the key step in overall reproductive outcome (Boomsma & Macklon, 2008; Walsh et al., 2009b). For example, when pre-implantation genetic diagnosis (PGD) data are studied from embryos obtained from patients who have experienced multiple IVF failures, aneuploidy is more often observed in the cycle following the initial failure (Pagidas et al., 2008). Thus, an impaired capacity to produce reproductively competent embryos is the critical associative factor among patients with recurrent IVF failure (Farhi et al., 2008).

3. Array CGH—Technique & Logistics

Array comparative genomic hybridization (aCGH) accomplishes selection of euploid embryos for fresh transfer first by whole genome amplification of each embryo, performed on-site at the IVF laboratory using the SurePlex DNA amplification system (BlueGnome Ltd; Cambridge, UK) in accordance with manufacturer's guidelines (Alfarawati *et al.*, 2011; Yang *et al.*, 2011).

In brief, trophectoderm biopsy samples (1-2 cells) and control DNA (8 µl each) are labeled with Cy3 and Cy5 fluorophores (BlueGnome Ltd; Cambridge, UK). Labeling time is typically three hours with DNA resuspended in dexsulphate hybridization buffer, before being placed on an array slide for hybridisation. After saline sodium citrate (SSC)/0.05% Tween-20 irrigation at room temperature, an additional ten minute wash in SSC is completed at room temperature. Slides are next washed in SSC for five minutes at 60°C and again for one minute at room temperature. A vacuum centrifuge is used to dry microarray slides with subsequent laser scanning at wavelength 10 µm (Agilent Technologies; Santa Clara, USA).

Microarray data are analyzed with BlueFuse software (BlueGnome, Cambridge, UK) to determine chromatin loss or gain across all 24 chromosomes. In general, aberrations are considered non-artifact if 15 or more probes deviated from normal limits as defined by the 24Sure platform. The published accuracy rate for this methodology when applied to trophectoderm cells is 95% (Alfarawati *et al.*, 2011; Sills et al., 2012b). Embryo ploidy

data is usually ready early enough to allow fresh transfer of a single embryo on day six (morning).

When multiple euploid blastocysts are available, the euploid blastocyst with the best morphology would be chosen for fresh transfer. Surplus euploid blastocysts are vitrified for future use (Liu *et al.*, 2012a). As shown in Figure 1, aCGH represents an additional crucial step in the IVF treatment process, following fertilisation and biopsy, at a time when morphology alone would typically be used exclusively to select embryos for transfer. Since aCGH consumes only about 12 hours of laboratory time after embryo biopsy, this eliminates the need to freeze all IVF embryos after biopsy with shipment of the biopsy samples for off-site testing. Fresh (single) embryo transfer can be performed on day six, thus obviating the need for additional medication (and at least one month delay in treatment) associated with subsequent frozen/thaw embryo transfer (see Figure 2).

There is some controversy regarding the ideal developmental stage when embryo biopsy for aCGH should be performed (Yang *et al.*, 2011). The reduced cellular mosaicism at day five (compared to day three) has led some centres to prefer biopsy at the blastocyst (d5) stage. When combined with trophectoderm biopsy and blastocyst vitrification, SNP microarray has resulted in high implantation rate and low miscarriage rates for some poor prognosis IVF patients (Schoolcraft *et al.*, 2010). Prior to May 2012, there was no published experience with aCGH in selecting a euploid blastocyst for single fresh transfer in the absence of any known parental chromosomal diagnosis.



Figure 1. Integration of array comparative genomic hybridisation (aCGH) with the in vitro fertilisation sequence. This schematic depicts aCGH components and time requirements (in hours) for each: A) sample preparation and genomic amplification, B) labeling, C) hybridisation, and D) scanning/reporting. Biopsy of embryonic trophectoderm at day five (blastocyst stage) is shown at Bx, and fresh single embryo transfer on day six corresponds to $f_{ET}(d6)$. This protocol enables comprehensive chromosomal screening within 12 hours of biopsy, thus obviating the need for empiric cryopreservation of all embryos while off-site results are returned. Surplus euploid embryos remaining after fresh transfer may be cryopreserved (*) for future use.



Figure 2. Schematic of conventional IVF (above) and IVF with aCGH (below), indicating follicular recruitment/ovulation induction (A1,A2) and oocyte retrieval/ICSI (B1,B2) steps in each treatment sequence. Comprehensive chromosomal screening (ccs) occurs instead of traditional morphological assessment of embryos (m), identifying any aneuploid embryos (red x). This permits selection of a single euploid embryo (green check) for fresh transfer (C2) or cryopreservation (*). Pregnancy rates nearing 70% have been reported after fresh transfer of one euploid embryo using this technique ($f_{ET(d6)}$), with significant reduction in multiple gestation rate (R_{m0}).

Encouraging data now show a way forward to augment IVF with aCGH, and to do so in a highly cost effective manner (Sills *et al.*, 2012b).

A recent investigation (Yang *et al.*, 2012) enrolled IVF patients willing to undergo fresh single blastocyst transfer with embryos randomised either to assessment by morphology alone, or by morphology plus aCGH. Researchers analysed 425 blastocysts via aCGH, and aneuploidy was present in 44.9%. These normal appearing embryos would have been considered suitable for transfer based on morphology, but chromosomal error

would have rendered them reproductively incompetent. As reported by Yang and colleagues (2012), the age-matched patient control group contributed 389 blastocysts which were assessed traditionally, by microscope only (no aCGH). This new approach substantially improved IVF efficiency, with clinical pregnancy rates increasing by 65% over the observed rate when conventional morphology alone was used to select single embryos for transfer (Yang *et al.*, 2012).

Of note, there were no twin or triplet pregnancies in either group. The clinical pregnancy rate was significantly higher in the morphology plus aCGH group compared to the morphology-only group (70.9 and 45.8%, respectively; p=0.017). The publication appearing in the journal *Molecular Cytogenetics* remains among its most highly-accessed papers, and was the first to describe integrating embryo screening via aCGH with standard IVF and single blastocyst transfer (Yang *et al.*, 2012). Such synergy between advances in genetics and embryology seems positioned to usher in a new era in the treatment of infertility (Fragouli & Wells, 2012; Sills *et al.*, 2012b), although thus far there has been little awareness of the potential economic impact of these studies or how they might shape public health policy.

Although the use of highly accurate molecular tests to identify genetic conditions has been established for some years (Sills *et al.*, 2002 & 2007), expenses can vary depending on which test is used. The additional cost associated with including aCGH during IVF to assess multiple embryos in a cohort has been calculated at approximately \$3000 (Yang *et al.*, 2012; Sills *et al.*, 2012b). It should be noted that current testing modalities permit several embryos to be tested at the same time, depending on which aCGH platform is used. In contrast, average NICU costs typically exceed \$3,500 per infant per day, and it is not uncommon for this figure to top \$1M for a prolonged stay (Muraskas & Parsi, 2008). California can be the first state to implement a health benefit programme that recognises the social and economic value of offering a regulated, public IVF plan as a way to manage these "first year of life" healthcare costs. Yet, to do so will require acknowledging the key role of aCGH in potentiating single embryo transfer in IVF.

4.1. How Many Embryos for Transfer?—Current Regulations (International)

Except for Sweden and Belgium (De Neubourg *et al.*, 2006; Karlström & Bergh, 2007), all other jurisdictions permit the number of embryos for transfer to be whatever the IVF doctor and patient want, so the clinician's role in this process is vital (van Peperstraten *et al.*, 2008). While some may favour the unregulated flexibility where the number of transferred embryo is not legally limited (Gleicher, 2011), one noteworthy case in California focused negative attention on the undesirable outcomes associated with a very high number of embryos transferred and the associated preterm delivery of octuplets (Kern, 2009; Rosenthal, 2011). Resistance to regulating number of transferred embryos derives from principles of procreative liberty, patient and professional autonomy, and free-market economics (Gleicher, 2011). In contrast, others have countered that IVF physicians must fulfill their professional fiduciary responsibility to balance nonmaleficence and proper utilisation of limited health care resources with patient requests to transfer multiple embryos (Van Voorhis & Ryan, 2010).

These two viewpoints represent interesting arguments for "self-pay" medical consumers in the United States. For IVF patients, the goal is simply to get pregnant quickly, thus the "freedom of choice" (unregulated) model has strong appeal. Indeed, when elective medical choices are influenced by free-market forces, the consumer's interest in single embryo transfer can be very low because this approach is associated with reduced percycle pregnancy rate (Le Lannou *et al.*, 2006) and delayed "time-to-pregnancy" (Lukassen *et al.*, 2005). When elective SET is undertaken on the basis of conventional morphology assessment alone, this consistently gives reduced delivery rates compared to dual embryo transfer, a result demonstrated in every randomised clinical trial published to date (Forman *et al.*, 2012). However, assuming the success rate with SET could be increased to approach that of double embryo transfer, then patient acceptance of single embryo transfer would surely improve (Leese & Denton, 2010).

Even where rules governing embryo transfer are in effect, there has never been specific regulation addressing how the single embryo must be selected. Thus far, legislation has been silent on this matter perhaps because it represents a contentious, evolving area of reproductive genetics: there is no scientific consensus yet on the optimal method to determine the competency of the embryonic genome during IVF. Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) array and array CGH (aCGH) have both been validated as accurate methods to achieve comprehensive chromosome screening when embryo biopsy is performed on d3 for fresh transfer on d5 (Hellani *et al.*, 2008; Fishel *et al.*, 2010; Fioretino *et al.*, 2011; Gutierrez-Mateo *et al.*, 2011; Handyside, 2011).

As California contemplates its own programme for subsidised IVF coverage where the number of transferred embryos is limited to one, looking to Belgium perhaps best illustrates how this could be implemented. A law regulating the number of transferred embryos there became effective in July 2003 (Salame *et al.*, 2011). Belgian IVF regulations actually stipulate a strong preference for single embryo transfer, but provisions for exceptions do exist. Specifically, for patients age less than 35 years undergoing fresh non-donor transfers (*i.e.*, not using cryopreserved embryos or oocyte donation), the first attempt is limited to one embryo for transfer. After the second IVF

attempt, a two embryo transfer is the maximum allowed. When the patient is age 35-40, a two embryo transfer is the maximum permitted for first and second IVF attempt, but three embryos may be transferred on the third cycle. As patient age approaches 43, there is no limit on the number of embryos transferred (Salame *et al.*, 2011). Thus, single embryo transfer has been mandatory for IVF patients up to age 35 years in Belgium for nearly ten years; contrasting multiple gestation rates in this group before and after implementation of this policy is highly relevant to the current proposal. Belgium's restriction in the number of embryos for transfer has led to a significant reduction of the multiple pregnancy rate, associated with a clinical pregnancy rate of 36.8% overall among IVF patients under age 36 (Salame *et al.*, 2011). This success rate with SET is similar to the clinical pregnancy rate observed in Belgian IVF patients who undergo a two-embryo transfer (37.5%, *p*>0.05), although the observed twinning rate is significantly lower (8.3 vs. 22.4%, p<0.001) (Salame *et al.*, 2011).

Of note, Belgian policies on embryo transfer (and ovarian stimulation) have not included any requirement for comprehensive chromosomal screening of embryos before transfer (the law was developed during a time when aCGH was not yet widely used in reproductive medicine), which could explain why overall pregnancy rates are lower than those reported when aCGH is used with IVF (Liu *et al.*, 2012a,b; Sills *et al.*, 2012b; Yang *et al.*, 2012). Nevertheless, savings realised by the Government of Belgium from reductions in health spend associated with neonatal intensive care (and pharmacy savings) now enables the Belgian national insurance system to subsidise up to six IVF cycles for eligible patients up to age 43 (Salame *et al.*, 2011). Important improvements in comprehensive chromosomal screening of embryos have been reported in the decade since Belgium's law was enacted. Experience with aCGH and IVF now shows that clinical pregnancy rates from IVF can nearly double even if only one (euploid) embryo is transferred (Liu *et al.*, 2012a; Yang *et al.*, 2012). This means that almost no IVF patient would require six fresh cycles, since each attempt can yield a pregnancy rate of about 70% (Liu *et al.*, 2012a; Sills *et al.*, 2012b; Yang *et al.*, 2012). Because IVF is so closely connected to the problem of multiple births, and considering the avoidance of iatrogenic twin, triplet and higher-order gestations would result in significant savings in health spending (Lukassen *et al.*, 2004; Salame *et al.*, 2011), a critical appraisal of single embryo transfer following IVF and aCGH is now appropriate.

Does government have an interest in the provision of this elective medical service? Connolly and co-workers (2009) developed a model to quantify the lifetime net tax position for the child (either naturally conceived, or born after IVF), and found a positive revenue gain for the government. Indeed, the only difference between the two scenarios (unassisted pregnancy *vs.* IVF) was confined to the additional cost of IVF required for conception. Using this formula, it was determined that an initial investment of £12,931 for IVF would yield an 8.5-fold return to the state over the child's taxpaying lifetime (Connolly *et al.*, 2009).

Before any new public health initiative may be considered, it is essential to anticipate costs and yields. When IVF was studied as a benefit under the remit of the National

Health Service, investigators from the United Kingdom (Connolly *et al.*, 2009) described a health investment model embracing multiple factors. The researchers estimated discounted future net tax revenue to the government, based on average "investment cost" for IVF needed to add one extra taxpayer to the national population by achieving a singleton live birth. This analysis was based on the formula modified from Cardarelli and colleagues (2000):

$$C_L(t) = T(g) - E(t) - H(t) - C(t) - P_S(t)$$

where T(g) is gross tax revenue received, E(t) and H(t) correspond to the state's education and healthcare expenditure, and C(t) represents child tax credits. Roles of government pension costs and privately-funded retirement pension are considered jointly, as taxation returns from private pension (from which the state receives additional revenue by pension tax) are factored as Ps(t). Accordingly, the net lifetime tax contribution to government may be estimated by $C_L(t)$.

Yet revenue returns predicted by the Cardarelli formula have greatest traction when every IVF attempt is a success, and each pregnancy gives a singleton livebirth. Unfortunately, current IVF practice cannot realistically deliver this level of clinical service (Sills *et al.*, 2009a). With an IVF treatment cost indexed at £12,931, and considering standard IVF in the United Kingdom typically costs about £3,500 per treatment (Sample, 2011) the formula clearly acknowledges the need for multiple attempts. Nevertheless, the predicted return could be substantially enhanced if IVF were refined to produce higher pregnancy rates with a multiple gestation rate identical to the background population level.

The impact of IVF on national birth rate and multiple gestation trends has been reported from other countries (Sills *et al.*, 2010d), and California's savings from avoiding IVF multiple gestation/preterm births from IVF may also be calculated. These projections are extrapolated from earlier work (see Table 1) where one vs. two embryo transfer costs were compared (Wølner-Hanssen & Rydhstroem, 1998).

	Embryos ti	Embryos transferred (<i>n</i>)						
Cost element	One	Two	Δ					
Sick leave	1830	4122	2292					
In-patient care	866	2785	1919					
Obstetrical care	2760	4970	2210					
(delivery)								
Neonatal care	1988	13279	11291					
Disability payments	3280	18130	14850					
Total	10724	43286	32562					

Table 1. Selected women's healthcare costs (historical) as a function ofnumber of embryos transferred during IVF, per patient.

Notes: All costs reported in 1995 Swedish Krone. Table adapted from Wølner-Hanssen & Rydhstroem (1998).

Additionally, where there is increased risk for offspring affected by chromosomal conditions (*i.e.*, advanced maternal age), aCGH could provide participating patients with information on embryo ploidy status before transfer (Hellani *et al.*, 2008). To be sure, society already carries much of the economic burden from complications associated with

multiple gestation, so governments have a compelling regulatory interest in how IVF is provided. The problem has been that, until now, there was no effective technology available to use with IVF to address these goals. Now that aCGH has been shown to fill this role and safely lift singleton pregnancy rates from IVF, continued provision of traditional IVF with multiple embryo transfers seems unnecessary. As shown in the next section, implementation of the current proposal in California would entail the state offsetting relatively small initial costs in the short term, with an expectation that substantial savings from reductions in "first year of life" healthcare spending are appreciated from dramatically lowered multiple gestation rates (Wølner-Hanssen & Rydhstroem, 1998).

4.2. How Many Embryos for Transfer—Proposed Regulations (California)

Interest in medical fertility treatments in general, and IVF in particular, among medical consumers in California remains strong. Since the first tabulation of national IVF data in 1996, the number of pregnancies conceived and infants delivered in the United States with the assistance of IVF has risen nearly threefold (Sunderam *et al.*, 2012)—a growth rate to which California has made substantial contributions. Sixty one IVF clinics operate in California alone, more than in any other U.S. state. In 2009, California residents initiated the highest total number of IVF cycles of any U.S. state.

The economic impact of IVF with regards to multiple gestation and preterm birth is substantial. About half (47%) of all IVF deliveries are multiple gestation, compared to about 3% in the background population (see Table 2a). California and five other states accounted for nearly half (48%) of all American IVF births in 2009, highlighting an unbalanced geographic distribution of IVF utilization in the United States (Sunderam *et al.,* 2012). Interestingly, despite the high absolute number of IVF cycles initiated in California, the state only ranks twelfth in the nation when the number of IVF cycles is measured against the total number of reproductive age women. Most likely, California's lower per capita IVF consumption is due, at least in part, to the state not having a statewide mandate for IVF insurance coverage.

Not having a state insurance mandate for IVF in California is a critical element in this analysis. Unfortunately, IVF coverage is rarely included in private health insurance plans in California and elsewhere in the United States (Sunderam *et al.*, 2012).

IVF multiple births		Total mu birth	Total multiple births		IVF twins		vins	% from IVF	HOM births from IVF		Total HOM births		% from IVF
п	(%)	n	(%)	п	(%)	n	(%)		n	(%)	n	(%)	
3,566	47.3	16,801	3.2	3290	43.6	16,126	3.1	20.4	276	3.7	675	0.1	40.9

Table 2a. Distribution of multiple gestation deliveries after IVF in California (2009).

Table 2b. Distribution of California IVF deliveries by gestational age at birth (2009).

	<37 weeks GA <32 weeks GA					7 weeks GA <32 weeks GA 32–36 weeks GA								
IV	Έ	All bi	rths	% from	Iv	٧F	All bi	rths	% from	IV	F	All bir	ths	% from
n	(%)	n	(%)	- IVF	n	(%)	n	(%)	IVF	п	(%)	n	(%)	- IVF
2,405	31.9	53,956	10.2	4.5	413	5.5	7,948	1.5	5.2	1,992	26.4	46,008	8.7	4.3

Notes: IVF = in vitro fertilisation; HOM = higher-order multiple birth (*i.e.*, triplets and higher order gestation); GA = gestational age. Total births tabulated by federal methods differ slightly from State of California vital statistics. Patients without a designated residency status were assigned to California if IVF treatment was performed within the state. This summary includes infants conceived from IVF initiated in 2008 and born in 2009, and infants conceived from IVF performed in 2009 and born in 2009. Source: U.S. CDC/National Center for Health Statistics, in Sunderam *et al*, 2012.

Where state IVF mandates are currently lacking, attempts to minimise out-of-pocket costs have been linked to higher numbers of embryos transferred per patient (Jain *et al.*, 2002). Thus, insurance mandates for IVF appear to be associated with not only improved access to assisted fertility therapy, but also substantially fewer aggressive IVF treatments where lower numbers of embryos are transferred per procedure (Hamilton & McManus, 2012; Jain *et al.*, 2002).

Importantly, 32% of all infants conceived by IVF in 2009 were low birthweight (<2,500 grams), and 33.4% of all IVF babies were delivered preterm (see Table 2b). In California, the contribution of IVF births to all low birthweight deliveries ranges from 6.3% to 6.7% depending on which category of birthweight is considered (see Table 3a). Overall, California's rate of preterm delivery was about 20.5% in 2009, which was somewhat lower than the national average (24.2%, in 2009).

These data highlight the hazards of overestimating the impact of IVF on overall poor delivery outcomes. While transferring more than one embryo in IVF does influence the rate of multiple gestation and preterm delivery (see Table 3b), the prevalence of these poor outcomes cannot be ascribed solely to IVF because this treatment accounts for a relatively small fraction of total births (Sunderam *et al.*, 2012). Of note, a recent study of preterm birth rates in the United States between 1989 and 2004 found that half the increase was of uncertain etiology (Chang *et al.*, 2012).

<2,500 grams					<1,500 grams				1,500–2,499 grams					
IVF bi	rths	All bir	ths	% from IVF	IVF t	oirths	All bi	rths	% from IVF	IVF b	oirths	Total b (all)	irths)	% from IVF
n	(%)	n	(%)		п	(%)	n	(%)		n	(%)	n	(%)	
2,373	31.4	35,802	6.8	6.6	384	5.1	6,064	1.2	6.3	1,989	26.4	29,738	5.6	6.7

Table 3a. Distribution of California IVF deliveries by low birthweight category (2009).

Table 3b. Comparison of singleton delivery characteristics, IVF and unassisted conceptions in California (2009).

All births (<i>n</i>)	Births from IVF (<i>n</i>)	IVF contribution (%)	IVF Singl	eton births	Singleto (al	n births l)	% of IVF singletons to all singleton
			п	(%)	п	(%)	births
527,020	7,546	1.4	3,973	52.7	510,219	96.8	0.8

Notes: IVF = in vitro fertilisation. Total births tabulated by federal methods differ slightly from State of California vital statistics. Patients without a designated residency status were assigned to California if IVF treatment was performed within the state. This summary includes infants conceived from IVF initiated in 2008 and born in 2009, and infants conceived from IVF performed in 2009 and born in 2009. Source: U.S. CDC/National Center for Health Statistics, in Sunderam *et al*, 2012.

While the report from the *Born Too Soon Preterm Prevention Analysis Group* did include a recommendation to decrease multiple embryo transfers during IVF as one of five specific initiatives to help resolve the preterm birth challenge (Chang *et al.*, 2012), because the United States has no nationwide database to capture information on gestational age at delivery following IVF, the actual impact of IVF on preterm births cannot be known with precision (Sills & Collins, 2013). For California, general cost parameters for IVF may be extrapolated from the following relations:

$$F(b) \times F(c) = F(t)$$

Where F(b) is the total number IVF cycles initiated in California, F(c) is the mean estimated cost per IVF cycle (invoiced at \$13,000) and F(t) represents approximate total health spend on IVF for 2009; and

$$G(b) \ x \ G(c) \begin{cases} G(tm) \\ + \\ G(<37) \end{cases} = G(t)$$

Where G(b) is total number of all California births in 2009, G(c) is aggregate cost for delivery and infant care [comprised of term birth costs G(tm) plus preterm (<37 weeks gestational age) birth costs, G(<37)], and G(t) is approximate total California health spend on all deliveries for 2009. A variation on this formula can also be used to estimate costs associated with IVF deliveries, although the ratio of term/preterm and multiple gestation births is altered.
Recently published California data give the following information for 2009:

- a) Total number of births = 526,744
- b) Total number of IVF cycles initiated (completed) = 18,405 (15,953)
- c) Births attributed to IVF = 7,546
- d) Low birthweight deliveries (total) = 71,604
- e) Preterm deliveries (total) = 107,912
- f) Low birthweight deliveries from IVF = 4,746
- g) Preterm deliveries from IVF = 4,810
- h) Estimated term delivery cost = \$9,329
- i) Estimated preterm delivery cost = \$51,600
- j) Cost of IVF per cycle $(\pm aCGH) =$ \$10,000 $\pm 3,000$

The total number of California births registered in 2009 is reported as 527,020 (federal source) or 526,774 (state source). In this case, the state record was regarded as more accurate (State of California, 2012c) while the remaining entries are federally derived (Sunderam *et al.*, 2012) or from clinic invoices where aCGH is offered on-site with IVF. While the numerical contribution made by IVF deliveries to the overall populations of low birthweight, preterm, and multiple gestation in California is minor, the downstream economic consequence of multiple embryo transfers in IVF is noteworthy.

From a total of 18,405 initiated IVF cycles in California during 2009, about 87% proceeded to embryo transfer. For these patients, the mean number of embryos

transferred during IVF per cycle was never less than two, and this increased with patient age in a manner similar to the national trend as summarised in Table 4.

	Patient age (years)				
	<35	35-37	38-40	41-42	43-44
Total IVF cycles initiated (<i>n</i>)	42,384	21,860	22,144	9,845	4,857
Implantations per ET (%)	35.3	25.9	17.2	9.1	4.2
Pregnancies per initiated cycle (%)	47.4	38.7	30.1	20.3	10.7
Livebirths per initiated cycle (%)	41.2	31.6	22.3	12.4	4.9
Livebirths per retrieval (%)	44.3	35.3	25.8	14.9	6.2
Livebirths per ET (%)	47.2	38.1	28.2	16.7	7.2
Singleton livebirths per ET (%)	30.9	27.0	21.8	14.0	6.6
Cancelled IVF cycles (%)	7.0	10.5	13.7	17.0	20.3
Average ET (n) per patient	2.1	2.3	2.7	3.1	3.2

Table 4. Cycle characteristics and outcomes for U.S. IVF patients, by age (2009)

Notes: IVF = in vitro fertilisation, ET = embryo transfer. All data derived from U.S. CDC 2009 Assisted Reproductive Technology Report for non-frozen (fresh) transfers involving non-donor gametes. No data were tabulated for patients age >44 years in this report.

If aCGH had been incorporated with IVF in 2009 to facilitate SET (rather than number of transferred embryos being ≥ 2), then some of California's 4,810 preterm birth outcomes resulting from IVF would have been replaced by less expensive term singleton deliveries. These adverse preterm outcomes may be avoided, but not eliminated entirely. This is because the background rate of preterm birth in California without IVF is not zero. As Chang and colleagues (2012) have reported, approximately half of all preterm births occur because of unknown factors independent of IVF. Analysis of 2009 California birth data shows a background rate of approximately 20.5% of deliveries being preterm, in contrast to California's preterm birth rate following standard IVF which is ~63%. While it is not surprising that the aggregate health spend on IVF infants is quite small compared to the majority (non-IVF) infant population, the difference in proportional resource allocation between term and preterm babies is conspicuous (see Figures 3a and 3b). Accordingly, if 7,546 deliveries were attributed to IVF in 2009 (from (c), above) and all of these births resulted from single embryo transfer, then 20.5% of 7,546 would still be expected to be preterm deliveries (Chang *et al.*, 2012). This means that only about 1,547 preterm babies would have been delivered in 2009, instead of 4,810. Avoiding 3,263 preterm births in 2009 would have saved California about \$168M in NICU spending.

Assuming the mean delivery cost per preterm infant is \$51,600 (from (i), above), then the aggregate delivery costs for 1,547 preterm infants should total about \$79.8M. The remaining babies "rescued" as term singleton deliveries from IVF (n=5,999) will require about \$56M in care costs, for a total of \$135.8M in overall delivery costs for all California IVF babies in 2009.

Considering California's actual health spend on the 4,810 actual preterm births from IVF in 2009 was at least \$248M, and that the state spent about \$25.5M for singleton term delivery, the intervention of single embryo transfer with IVF should recover about \$137.7M in NICU overspend for 2009 (see Figures 4a and 4b).



Figure 3a. Total 2009 births in California (n =526,774), IVF vs. Unassisted pregnancy (non-IVF).

Source: State of California, Department of Finance (2012). PT = preterm (<37wks at delivery).



Figure 3b. Distribution of delivery costs in California by gestational age at birth 2009 (calculated).

Background California population/unassisted pregnancy births (left) vs. California IVF births (right) *Source*: State of California, Department of Finance (2012) and Sunderam *et al*, (2012).

However, before realising \$137.7M in savings, California must first offset the *de novo* costs of IVF with aCGH and single embryo transfer needed to reach this lower preterm delivery target. This means the \$137.7M must be reduced by the total amount of state subsidy provided for IVF patients in California. From (j) above, this is \$13,000 per treatment assuming no funding match by the IVF patient (because this projection considers only fresh transfers, costs associated with medications, embryo cryopreservation, and subsequent frozen/thaw embryo transfer are not included). Even if every IVF cycle initiated in California during 2009 (n=18,405) were matched with state monies amounting to 50% of total treatment cost (*i.e.*, reducing IVF patient out-of-pocket cost by half), the requisite initial investment from California (\$119.6M) would be fully recovered and net an annual state revenue surplus of approximately \$18.2M.

Likewise, if aCGH had been available and incorporated with IVF to facilitate SET in 2009 (rather than multiple embryo transfer), then some of California's 3,566 multiple gestation births resulting from IVF would have been averted. Among California IVF patients, the observed multiple gestation rate was 47.3% in 2009, which is significantly higher than the 3.2% multiple gestation rate in the general California population.

Thus, if IVF with aCGH and single embryo transfer had been available for all 7,546 IVF cases, then this treatment would not have inflated the multiple gestation rate and instead would have contributed only ~242 IVF births as twins, triplets or higher-order multiple gestation. The avoidance of 3,324 excess (iatrogenic) multiple gestation births (if these



Figure 4a. Distribution of delivery costs associated with 7,546 IVF births in California (2009, calculated).

Total delivery & infant care budget for IVF births = \$221M. Source: State of California, Department of Finance (2012).



Figure 4b. Distribution of delivery costs associated with 7,546 IVF births in California (2009, calculated). Anticipated total delivery & infant care budget assuming IVF with single embryo transfer = \$80.6M.

Source: State of California, Department of Finance (2012) and Sunderam et al, (2012).

delivered before 37 weeks gestation and therefore properly classified as preterm deliveries), would yield an even more dramatic realignment of NICU resources. Modifying the previous formula, this may be estimated as follows:

$$H = G(b) \times G(c) \begin{cases} G(tm) \\ + \\ G(<37) \end{cases} \xrightarrow{MET} G(b) \times G(c) \begin{cases} G(tm) \\ + \\ G(<37) \end{cases} \xrightarrow{SET} F(c)/2$$

Where *H* is the projected savings recovered from all IVF births under SET conditions subtracted from current IVF deliveries and multiple embryo transfers (MET), factoring the programme cost of IVF. Specifically, delivery care costs in California when IVF is offered with multiple embryo transfers is about \$221M (due to the significantly higher multiple gestation/preterm birth rate), compared to only \$80.6M if IVF were exclusively performed with SET resulting in no disturbance in the expected 3.2% multiple gestation rate. Again, assuming California's benchmark benefit plan includes a 50% matching formula to discount the patient's out-of-pocket cost for IVF with aCGH by half, (*F*(*c*)/2, above) all costs to the state would be fully recovered—plus an annual net surplus of \$20.9M (see Figure 5).



Figure 5. Summary of IVF delivery costs in California (n = 7,546) stratified by gestational type, after multiple embryo transfer (MET) or array comparative genomic hybridisation with single embryo transfer (aCGH+SET). The distribution of multiple gestation (dark grey, above) vs. singleton births (light grey, below) after IVF is compared for each embryo transfer approach. Delivery costs are presented in 2009 U.S. dollars (millions).

Since delivery expenditures for singleton births average about 20% of multiple gestation delivery, and because the multiple gestation rate with SET is significantly lower compared to MET, delivery costs following aCGH+SET would be expected to be approximately \$140.4M lower using this embryo transfer strategy (dashed line, blue). However, this recovery must be offset by IVF+aCGH expense (\$119.5M), before net savings may be estimated.

Assuming treatment fees for all IVF cycles initiated in California during 2009 (*n*=18,405) were supplemented by a negotiated 50% state matching grant (red bar), savings from averted multiple gestation/preterm births after aCGH+SET would be sufficient to defray treatment cost plus provide >\$20M in net revenue to California (green bar).

Note that preterm birth and multiple gestation outcomes are not independent events, so the budget recoveries forecast from the two sample calculations above are not additive. Neither state nor federal data presently allow for a regression analysis to show how fresh SET after IVF with aCGH might affect multiple gestation and preterm birth. In other words, some singleton deliveries will still be preterm, and some twin pregnancies may deliver after 37 weeks gestation, but calculating frequencies of these special outcomes is not possible from existing data. Another matter to consider as embryo testing becomes routinely integrated with assisted fertility treatment is that the clinical effectiveness of IVF changes when comprehensive chromosomal screening of embryos is included. For example, significantly higher implantation rates following transfer of an embryo after genetic testing have been reported by multiple investigators (Schoolcraft *et al.*, 2012; Sills *et al.*, 2012b; Yang *et al.*, 2012) and the effect appears consistent for IVF patients of various ages. This modification means that consumption of IVF cycles could be reduced because successful pregnancy can be reached earlier and with fewer attempts, even in the setting of mandatory SET policy. Using 2009 California data, this effect can be measured by calculating actual IVF treatment yield where 18,405 standard IVF cycles were initiated to give 7,546 deliveries (approximately 41%). In contrast, the pregnancy rate reported with IVF, aCGH and SET is increased to ~70% (Yang *et al.*, 2012). Thus, the initiative described here could have provided California IVF patients all their births in 2009, but with 7,625 fewer cycles initiated—thus redirecting \$99.1M of discretionary spending away from excess IVF consumption and back into California's general economy.

Any curtailment in treatment uptake projected from the significantly improved pregnancy rate using IVF with aCGH and SET must be balanced by the potential for heightened demand in California, a reasonable expectation if patient cost for this service is suddenly reduced by half. Even as total costs for IVF have increased over time, the number of patients seeking this treatment has continued to grow (Talaulikar & Arulkumaran, 2012). It is plausible that a sizable, latent population considering IVF which had previously deferred this treatment due to its excessive cost would now find it more affordable, thus swelling demand substantially. Administrative intake procedures including defined medical eligibility requirements, proof of California residency, or mandatory waiting periods should be developed to maximise treatment benefit.

Importantly, this proposal would not preclude or proscribe continued privately-funded IVF for patients who wish to maintain the status quo and pay for fertility treatment themselves. Conserving an open-market option for California's private-pay IVF patients should not significantly attenuate the savings projected here. This is because when given the choice of a high pregnancy rate (~70%) from IVF with screened single embryo transfer as provided under the state IVF programme, some affluent California patients may regard this incentive as sufficiently strong to leave the private market. In the private-pay setting, aCGH with single embryo transfer has recently become an option, albeit underutilised. It may be that private insurance contracts eventually move to this model as a condition of assisted fertility treatment coverage, if these policy holders remain as the only residual sub-group of IVF transfers which continue to result in higher-order multiple gestation outcomes.

The estimates discussed here are not without limitations. For example, the reports from which they are derived used surveillance data reported for each IVF procedure performed (not for individual IVF patients), so this analysis could not link procedures for patients who initiated multiple IVF cycles. Also, the contribution of IVF to multiple gestation may be overestimated because stillborn infants were included in the tabulation of multiple births. Perhaps most importantly, data are available only for individuals

seeking IVF during the study period, and cannot ascertain individuals or couples with infertility who did not avail of IVF for personal, financial, or other reasons. Note that these calculations are based on a hypothetical 50% state subsidy to enable IVF treatment for California patients at a level where out-of-pocket costs would be cut by half. Other funding formulas are conceivable. While some patients may still not be able to afford IVF even at the discounted rate with government assistance from California, the impact of demand elasticity and price-for-service was outside the scope of this analysis. Except for industry reports that are not publicly available, very little data exists on individual consumer demand and personal income as reported by IVF patients. Notwithstanding these limitations, the projections here can provide an essential starting point for policy debate.

5. Bioethical Considerations & Reproductive Policy Concerns

Studies of public opinion and social response concerning offering access to a state subsidised IVF program where "terms and conditions" apply are underway, but the proposal's public reception in California is likely to be favourable and similar to that presently voiced in support of conventional IVF. To be sure, even established health policies regarding reproductive issues rarely meet with universal acclaim (Dickens, 2005) and some criticism from religious, feminist, or disability-rights advocates could follow this initiative. Perhaps the most controversial aspect of the current proposal entails setting boundaries on how information obtained from comprehensive chromosomal screening of embryos may be used.

For example, recognising that IVF patients desire a healthy child from their pregnancy, what will be the disposition procedure for any abnormal or diseased embryos which the state has helped identify by aCGH (Piyamongkol *et al.*, 2006; Altarescu *et al.*, 2011)? Should state resources be part of a treatment which allows IVF patients to select the sex of their offspring (Sills & Palermo, 2002b)? Could IVF patients use this programme to begin a pregnancy expressly to have a "tissue matched" baby, so that a suffering, older sibling requiring a transplant might have a donor and survive (Samuel *et al.*, 2009; Lai, 2011)? Can the programme be expanded to include IVF with donor gametes, and, if yes, how will the matter of donor compensation (if any) be resolved? Such concerns raise sensitive and complex questions when basic IVF is funded entirely at patient expense; involving public money will no doubt focus increased attention on these bioethical

issues and will require considerable multidisciplinary input to settle (Farsides & Scott, 2012).

Yet in 2004, the California public encountered a question of related complexity. Voters were asked if public funds should be used to support controversial, high-technology biomedical research. "Proposition 71" established the California Institute for Regenerative Medicine to award \$3 billion in competitive, peer-reviewed grants to advance stem cell research (including human embryonic stem cell work). Authorising the most expansive state-funded medical research initiative in U.S. history, this ballot initiative passed with nearly 60% support (Burgin, 2010). Although implementing partial state subsidies to enable IVF treatment in California with aCGH and SET as proposed here would require a far smaller budget (and would provide clinical results much sooner), it would not be free from its own administrative challenges.

6. The Economics of IVF & Insurance Under 'Obamacare'

The financial stress associated with IVF is difficult to overstate. Prohibitive out-ofpocket costs make many who need IVF unable to initiate or complete this therapy. The clinical or institutional expense is, unfortunately, just one aspect of treatment since pharmacy costs associated with IVF often increase substantially the overall expense to patients. Research suggests that fertility patients will sometimes choose to selfadminister more of the prescribed injections, if it might mean saving enough money to make IVF more affordable (Sills *et al.*, 2012a). Although previous research has shown that gonadotropin use during IVF may be lower where SET is mandated (Salame *et al.*, 2011), this cost element was not included for coverage in the proposed initiative for California. Previous research has recognised the challenge of gonadotropin cost and others have outlined workable strategies to include this expense in an overall IVF budget (Hildebaugh *et al.*, 1997; Stassart *et al.*, 2011). Should actual health savings for California exceed projected levels, then a pharmacy benefit could be added in a subsequent revision.

In the fortunate circumstance where individuals do have access to IVF either by a mandatory state requirement or a defined employee health benefit to offset these treatment costs, patients are acutely aware of the vulnerable nature of such coverage. Access to IVF, and therefore the ability to begin or grow a family, will be disrupted if patients move to another state or if they lose their job. This pressurised situation helps explain why some patients are not dissuaded from IVF merely because a twin pregnancy could result. Multiple studies have demonstrated that a twin outcome from IVF is not

only acceptable, but desirable (Gleicher & Barad, 2009; Walsh *et al.*, 2009a; Fiddelers *et al.*, 2011).

Even when the number of transferred embryos is limited to two (a policy generally regarded as conservative clinical practice in USA), the risk for dizygotic twinning after IVF must be acknowledged as significantly higher than the twinning risk observed in a background population of unassisted conception (Sills *et al.*, 2000 & 2010d). IVF patients are informed that health costs for twins and triplets may be 3- and 10-fold higher, respectively, compared to singleton deliveries (Ledger *et al.*, 2006), but in clinical practice this rarely dampens the enthusiasm for twins (Gleicher & Barad, 2009). One reason consumers may be focused more on attaining "pregnancy at any cost" is that after delivery, the reimbursement system changes so that supportive care, infant surgery, and other neonatal health resources become covered expenses, eligible for state support or insurance coverage. In other words, while treatment expense for IVF in California is almost always funded privately, the substantial downstream costs deriving from any multiple gestation or preterm births are shared by society.

Linking insurance coverage or state subsidy with the objective of improving access to IVF is not an entirely new concept. In the United States, however, a SET stipulation as a condition of assistance with IVF treatment does not currently exist, most likely due to inadequate technology to identify reproductively competent embryos with precision. Even in states where insurance coverage for IVF is mandated for certain groups (*e.g.*, Illinois, Maryland, Massachusetts and Rhode Island), SET is not compulsory. Elsewhere,

the provision of IVF is on the basis of the patient's own ability to pay (Neumann, 1997). It was against this backdrop that "Obamacare" entered the national vocabulary to describe a method to provide substantial and serious reforms for the American healthcare system.

On June 28, 2012, the Supreme Court of the United States issued a landmark ruling in the matter of *National Federation of Independent Businesses v. Sebelius* (2012), which challenged the constitutionality of the Patient Protection & Affordable Care Act, 2010 (PPACA). This 5-to-4 decision affirmed the constitutionality of key elements of "Obamacare" and returned the national discourse on universal healthcare back to the political arena (Friedman, 2012). While the Court cleared a significant obstacle for providing universal healthcare in USA, it was not designed to consider specific types of treatment which should be provided. In fact, neither "Obamacare" itself nor the ruling from the nation's highest Court provided any guidance to American fertility patients. For patients seeking elective fertility treatment, the most important changes brought by PPACA are that lifetime limits ("benefit caps") for covered services were eliminated, and that pre-existing conditions cannot be used as a basis to deny health insurance coverage (Bazer, 2012). Coverage areas under "Obamacare" were reserved for the U.S. Secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS) to define, and this federal department established the essential health benefits (EHB) across ten categories as shown in Table 5.

In compliance with the PPACA, each state has nominated its own insurance model in accord with this ten-part framework, to define the minimum coverage offered by all

insurers operating in that particular state. As expected, the role of the EHB was immediately recognised as central to the practical deployment of "Obamacare" since the EHB is the local mechanism by which each state defines patient benefits. With many vested interests in play (and frequently in open competition with each other), negotiating the EHB became a politically and socially charged endeavour (Iglehart, 2011).

Table 5. Health insurance coverage areas required by the U.S. Patient Protection &Affordable Care Act, 2010

- (1) Ambulatory patient services
 (2) Emergency services
 (3) Hospitalization
 (4) Maternity & newborn care
 - (5) Mental health & substance use disorder services (behavioural health treatment)
 - (6) Prescription drugs
 - (7) Rehabilitative and habilitative services/devices
 - (8) Laboratory services
 - (9) Preventive/wellness services and chronic disease management
 - (10) Paediatric services, including oral and vision care

An expert panel recommended that a "structured interactive process" be developed at the federal level to advise HHS on balancing the "tensions between comprehensiveness and affordability." This committee consistently recognised that if the chronic problem of

rising health care costs were not adequately addressed, the most laudable goal of PPACA—to help the uninsured American population—is likely to be undermined.

California's essential health benefit was codified in Senate Bill (SB) 951, signed by Governor Edmund G. Brown Jnr. on September 30, 2012. This mandated that all small group and individual health insurance policies issued, amended, or renewed in the State of California must be identical to the health benefits covered by the "Kaiser HMO 30" plan (see Table 6), effective January 1, 2014 (State of California, 2012a). The legislation also prohibits any California insurer from modifying the list of mandatory benefits, even if such substitutions are budget neutral (State of California, 2012b).

Because the benchmark plan selected by California specifically excludes the advanced reproductive technologies, fertility patients in California cannot look to "Obamacare" to improve access to IVF treatment at this time. The enactment of SB 951 does not mean that California is prohibited from including IVF in its "Benchmark Plan" in the future, only that there is no mandate for California to do so now. Benefits and services can be modified by the California General Assembly in 2015. As data from new technologies become available, each state's benchmark plan is encouraged to be "more fully evidence-based, specific, and value-promoting over time" (Institute of Medicine, 2011). In California, this directive could be influenced by one recent study of more than 90,000 fresh, non-donor IVF cycles comparing outcomes between states that mandated IVF coverage with those that did not (Martin JR *et al.*, 2011). Interestingly, "free-market" states (no mandate) achieved a higher pregnancy rate (38.8% vs. 35%) and live-birth rate

Component	Cost to Patient		
Annual deductible	0		
Pharmacy deductible	250 for non-generic		
	(brand) prescriptions		
Annual out-of-pocket maximum	3,000/6,000		
(individual/family)			
Clinic visits (unless only for preventive &	30 co-payment		
maternity)			
Preventive care & PNC	0		
Infertility treatment (IVF, ICSI, TESE)	[Excluded]		
OT/PT & speech therapy	30		
Most laboratory tests & basic radiology	10		
MRI/CT/PET (complex radiology)	50		
Outpatient surgery	200/procedure		
A&E visits (waived if direct hospital admission)	100		
Ambulance	75		
Prescriptions – generic equivalent	10 (up to 100-day		
	supply)		
Prescriptions – brand specific	35 (after pharmacy		
· ·	deductible)		
Hospital care – accommodation, tests, supplies,	400/day		
therapies	-		
Hospital care (up to 100 SNF care days)	0		
Mental health services – outpatient	30 individual/15 group		
Mental health services – inpatient	400/day		
Chemical dependency services – outpatient	30		
Chemical dependency services – inpatient	400/day		
(detox only)	-		
Select DME, prosthetics, orthotics, optical	Not covered, but 20%		
	off on glasses &		
	contacts purchased		
	from Kaiser		
Vision exam	0		
Home health care (up to 100 2hr visits)	0		
Hospice care	0		
-			

Table 6. California's State EHB 'Benchmark Plan' (SB 951),2012 Coverage detail.

All costs reported in US\$ (2012).

Notes: EHB – essential health benefit, SB – Senate Bill (California General Assembly), PNC – prenatal care, IVF - in vitro fertilisation, ICSI – intracytoplasmic sperm injection, TESE – testicular sperm extraction, OT/PT – occupational therapy/physical therapy, SNF – skilled nursing facility, DME – durable medical equipment.

(32.2% vs. 29.1%) than states with an IVF mandate, but these results came at the expense of a significantly higher twin (28.1% vs. 26%) and triplet rate (3.9% vs. 3.4%) in the nonmandated states. Not surprisingly, the mean number of embryos transferred was significantly higher among nonmandated states (2.6 vs. 2.2).

California leadership could find guidance from prior research on mandated IVF coverage, the transfer of fewer embryos, and lower rates of multiple pregnancies and births, particularly in the younger age groups (Martin JR *et al.*, 2011). It should be emphasised that such results from IVF were attained in the absence of any routine comprehensive chromosomal screening of embryos. Outcomes with standard elective SET (without any genetic assessment to guide which embryo is selected for transfer) can permit subsequent FET cycles, where a single thawed embryo is transferred on each occasion. Although this approach can work for some patients (Milne *et al.*, 2010), for any one transfer SET has been found to yield about a one-third loss of success rate relative to dual embryo transfer (Roberts *et al.*, 2010), and necessarily increases the "time to pregnancy" and overall treatment interval for IVF patients.

A key recomm1endation of the IOM Committee on Defining and Revising an Essential Health Benefits Package for Qualified Health Plans (Institute of Medicine, 2011) specifically states that, beginning in 2015, the HHS Secretary should update the EHB package to make it more fully evidence-based, specific, and value-promoting, with an emphasis on cost analysis. For California, "Obamacare" will almost certainly result in significant additional demand for healthcare as more women gain insurance coverage (Gee & Rosenbaum, 2012), and the funding for these extra services will need to come from somewhere. Regarding first-year-of-life care for multiple gestation and preterm birth, California already allocates considerable resources to provide these services. The data presented here show that aCGH with IVF and SET is one way to lower the healthcare burden associated with some of these "super-utilisers", so that the millions of dollars saved could be used to offset partially the costs of other State of California care obligations enumerated by "Obamacare". Just as with empirical research in other disciplines, it will be impossible to audit uptake of any social service until it has been identified, measured, and defined (Webley, 2010); a public deliberative process should inform choices about how to configure the updated package (Igelhart, 2011). It seems unlikely that the U.S. Health Secretary will modify the EHB to include fertility services at the federal level, but the State of California will have more flexibility.

7. *IVF and Population Growth*

What is the source of American population growth? Only about 1 in 75 new births in the United States is from IVF (Fuller, 2012). In contrast, the foreign-born population in the United States has tripled since 1970 (Capps *et al.*, 2005). Even though a tiny minority of Americans avail of IVF and its traditional multiple embryo transfers, the number of IVF cycles initiated has increased every year since the treatment became available. In the meantime, the frequency and pattern of multiple births has changed dramatically, with the twinning rate rising 70 percent between 1980 and 2004 (Martin JA *et al.*, 2011). Perhaps paradoxically, this upward trend in multiple gestation has occurred against a background of gradually falling national fertility rates. For example, the total U.S. fertility rate was 2.0 births per woman in 2009, but this dropped to 1.9 the next year and is now well below the replacement fertility level of 2.1. Similar changes (declines or plateaus) of fertility rates have been reported in Ireland, Italy, Spain, Sweden, and other European countries (Mather, 2012).

Declining fertility in the U.S. is primarily being driven by a trend among young adults to postpone childbirth (Mills *et al.*, 2011). That so many of these individuals become IVF patients, and eventually mothers to twins, triplets, and higher-order multiple preterm births, is reflected in the delivery statistics discussed previously (Talaulikar & Arulkumaran, 2012). In 1970, births among women in their 20s were significantly more numerous than those from women in their 30s. But, by 2009 the birth rate among U.S. women ages 30 to 34 (97.5 births per 1,000 women) exceeded that for women ages 20 to 24 (96 births per 1,000 women)—a major demographic shift for the United States.

Among very young mothers in the U.S., the same pattern is evident: the (2010) birth rate among teens dropped to 34 births per 1,000 females ages 15 to 19—the lowest level ever recorded for this group in the United States (Mather, 2012).

As impressive as IVF technology may be, attention to the opposite end of the life spectrum finds changes even more consequential for population growth. Quite independent of IVF utilisation (but not entirely unrelated), human mortality has decreased so substantially that the difference between hunter-gatherers and our lowest mortality populations is now greater than the difference between hunter-gatherers and our closest evolutionary ancestors in the animal kingdom, the wild chimpanzee. Most of this reduction in human mortality has occurred since 1900, experienced by only about four of the approximately 8,000 human generations that have ever lived (Burger *et al.*, 2012). As infertility was once though intractable, the concept of old-age mortality also has been significantly re-focused (Sills *et al.*, 2001), such that life expectancy is no longer approaching a limit. Indeed, current evidence suggests that human ageing is plastic (Vaupel & Kistowski, 2005) and that survival may be extended by various genetic changes and non-genetic interactions.

These demographic observations still must consider pro-natal technologies such as IVF carefully, because fertility and mortality are the two critical factors determining population size and age structure, and these usually do not change abruptly without famine, pandemic, or war (Feng, 2012). One exceptional case is China, where 30 years of severe policies limiting births (Sills *et al.*, 1998) have had the dramatic effect of

curtailing population growth to among the lowest in the world (Feng, 2012). But in any country, reduced fertility coupled with rising longevity will cause the proportions of elderly to increase sharply and limit the supply of youthful labour to some extent. Even the oldest national populations of today will experience a doubling or more in their old-age dependency ratios in the coming decades (Lee & Mason, 2010) irrespective of IVF utilisation. For populations with low or negative growth, policies to address ageing and very low fertility are of central importance. The current proposal addresses the fertility component to harmonise with other calls to improve efficiency of health spending, to strengthen social groups, and to empower individual fertility decisions (Ezeh *et al.,* 2012).

8. Conclusion

The U.S. population is now characterised as decreasingly fertile, but with more multiple gestation births and significantly longer lifespans compared to prior generations. Acting with other socioeconomic factors, these characteristics exacerbate an unprecedented crisis in the American healthcare system. No single proposal can expect to address all facets of America's healthcare budget crisis. Yet, key sectors must be encouraged to implement creative solutions in their domain with a view to manage costs more effectively. Here, comprehensive chromosomal screening of embryos on day five, integrated with IVF and single fresh embryo transfer is proposed for California to resolve two distinct but interrelated health system objectives: Reduction of "first year of life" health spending associated with multiple gestation and preterm births from IVF, and, equalisation of access to IVF without regard to ability to pay by means of a qualified state subsidy. It is unusual when two healthcare problems are fixable with a single policy initiative; it is exceptional when that policy conserves resources which are already limited.

Reducing public health spending remains the focus of some budget strategies, and application of an integrated aCGH protocol with IVF and fresh SET should warrant consideration. Although extended embryo culture and blastocyst transfer are often considered as a way to "naturally select" embryos (Sepúlveda *et al.*, 2011), this strategy has a low efficiency in identifying euploid embryos for transfer. In America, individual states can develop unique public health insurance programmes which may be used as experimental models influencing the entire nation (Larson & Williams, 2003; Romney,

2007). The present analysis is the first to demonstrate how a social health investment by California in IVF, aCGH from embryos biopsied on day five, and fresh SET being can be more than recovered by downstream savings, because health spend is conserved when costs of higher-order multiple gestation deliveries are avoided in favour of singleton births from IVF. This approach will not be considered in a policy vacuum, and other initiatives can also help by working in a complementary manner. For example, S965 in the U.S. Senate/HR 3522 in the U.S. House of Representatives (the "Family Act") is one legislative effort which creates a new federal tax credit for infertility patients. The proposed credit would be based on 50% of IVF out of pocket costs, up to a lifetime maximum benefit of \$13,360 (U.S. Library of Congress, 2012). A federal tax credit as proposed by the "Family Act" could be coordinated with a related state initiative in California to emphasise the role of aCGH and SET with IVF.

Until aCGH emerged as a reliable and precise procedure to identify reproductively competent embryos in IVF, any reproductive health policy mandating SET would be impractical and poorly accepted by consumers. This proposal shows how rapid, on-site aCGH can bring single embryo transfer IVF pregnancy success rates approaching 70% within reach (Sills *et al.*, 2012b; Yang *et al.*, 2012) even for poor prognosis IVF patients (Liu *et al.*, 2012b). Now that such data are available, it is essential that patients, providers, and policymakers understand the hazards (medical and economic) of continued multiple embryo transfer with IVF (Sills & Collins, 2013). California's EHB schedule, set for revision in 2015, should include an economic analysis of statewide hospital encumbrances associated with neonatal "super utiliser" births after IVF

treatment. Specifically, for every preterm birth averted when SET is performed, California's downstream health spend per infant could be reduced by about one-fifth (\$51,600 vs. \$9,329). While other states already require insurance coverage for IVF, none address the multiple gestation or preterm birth problem by restricting the number of fresh embryos transferred after comprehensive chromosomal embryo screening. California can do better. Cost recovery in California's health spending can be achieved with a pilot programme providing this service for qualified residents.

California's investment in aCGH with IVF and SET makes economic sense because the initial fertility treatment cost is always dwarfed by the subsequent healthcare burdens associated with preterm birth and multiple gestation. If a 50% matching program for IVF with aCGH and SET were available in California as proposed here, the grant amount per patient (\$6,500) would be an effective way to reduce the state's rate of preterm and multiple gestation births in this population—thus reducing the frequency of (and possibly mitigating maternal requests for) cesarean delivery (D'Souza & Arulkumaran, 2013). The approaching 2015 target to modify the California Insurance Code (benchmark health plan) presents an opportunity to recast the regulatory framework to enable this approach. Additional impact studies are anticipated to validate policy goals and to determine administrative procedures to facilitate implementation as the EHB revision date nears.

9. References

Alfarawati S, Fragouli E, Colls P, Stevens J, Gutiérrez-Mateo C, Schoolcraft WB, Katz-Jaffe MG, Wells D (2011). The relationship between blastocyst morphology, chromosomal abnormality, and embryo gender. *Fertil Steril* 95(2):520-524.

Altarescu G, Barenholz O, Renbaum P, Beeri R, Levy-Lahad E, Margalioth EJ, Brooks B, Varshaver I, Eldar-Geva T (2011). Preimplantation genetic diagnosis (PGD)-- prevention of the birth of children affected with endocrine diseases. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab* 24(7-8):543-8.

Bazar E (2012). Bills set benchmark for California's health insurance coverage. *San Jose Mercury News* [newspaper]. September 1, p. A1.

Bergh T, Ericson A, Hillensjo T, Nygren KG, Wennerholm UB (1999). Deliveries and children born after in-vitro fertilisation in Sweden 1982–1995: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet* 354, (9190):1579-1585.

Boomsma CM, Macklon NS (2008). Does glucocorticoid therapy in the periimplantation period have an impact on IVF outcomes? *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol* 20(3):249-256. Bungum M, Bungum L, Lynch KF, Wedlund L, Humaidan P, Giwercman A (2012). Spermatozoa DNA damage measured by sperm chromatin structure assay (SCSA) and birth characteristics in children conceived by IVF and ICSI. *Int J Androl* 35(4):485-90.

Burger O, Baudisch A, Vaupel JW (2012). Human mortality improvement in evolutionary context. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109(44):18210-4.

Burgin E (2010). Human embryonic stem cell research and Proposition 71. Reflections on California's response to federal policy. *Politics Life Sci* 29(2):73-95.

Campbell A, Fishel S, Bowman N, Duffy S, Sedler M, Hickman CF (2013). Modelling a risk classification of aneuploidy in human embryos using non-invasive morphokinetics. *Reprod Biomed Online* 26(5):477-85.

Capps R, Fix ME, Murray J, Ost J, Passel JS, Herwantoro SH (2005). New Demography of America's Schools: Immigration and the No Child Left Behind Act. Urban Institute Press (Washington, DC):5.

Cardarelli R, Sefton J, Kotlikoff LJ (2000). Generational Accounting in the UK. *Econ J* 110:F547-F574.

Chambers GM, Hoang VP, Zhu R, Illingworth PJ (2012). A reduction in public funding for fertility treatment - an econometric analysis of access to treatment and savings to government. *BMC Health Serv Res* 12:142.

Chang HH, Larson J, Blencowe H, Spong CY, Howson CP, Cairns-Smith S, Lackritz EM, Lee SK, Mason E, Serazin AC, Walani S, Simpson JL, Lawn JE (2012). Preventing preterm births: analysis of trends and potential reductions with interventions in 39 countries with very high human development index. *Lancet* 2013;381(9875):1356-7.

Christiansen OB, Nielsen HS, Kolte AM (2006). Future directions of failed implantation and recurrent miscarriage research. *Reprod Biomed Online* 13(1):71-83.

Connolly M, Gallo F, Hoorens S, Ledger W (2009). Assessing long-run economic benefits attributed to an IVF-conceived singleton based on projected lifetime net tax contributions in the UK. *Hum Reprod* 24(3):626-632.

De Neubourg D, Gerris J, Van Royen E, Mangelschots K, Vercruyssen M (2006). Impact of a restriction in the number of embryos transferred on the multiple pregnancy rate. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 124(2):212-215.

Dickens BM (2005). Preimplantation genetic diagnosis and 'savior siblings'. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 88(1):91-96.

D'Souza R, Arulkumaran S (2013). To 'C' or not to 'C'? Caesarean delivery upon maternal request: a review of facts, figures and guidelines. *J Perinat Med* 41(1):5-15.

Ezeh AC, Bongaarts J, Mberu B (2012). Global population trends and policy options. *Lancet* 380(9837):142-148.

Farhi J, Ben-Haroush A, Dresler H, Pinkas H, Sapir O, Fisch B (2008). Male factor infertility, low fertilisation rate following ICSI and low number of high-quality embryos are associated with high order recurrent implantation failure in young IVF patients. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 87(1):76-80.

Farsides B, Scott R (2012). No small matter for some: practitioners' views on the moral status and treatment of human embryos. *Med Law Rev* 20(1):90-107.

Feng W (2012). Demographic transition-Racing towards the precipice. *China Econ Q* 12:17-21.

Fiddelers AA, Nieman FH, Dumoulin JC, van Montfoort AP, Land JA, Evers JL, Severens JL, Dirksen CD (2011). During IVF treatment patient preference shifts from singletons towards twins but only a few patients show an actual reversal of preference. *Hum Reprod* 26(8):2092-2100.

Fioretino F, Spizzichino L, Bono S, Birricik A, Kokkali G, Rienzi L, Ubaldi FM, Iammarrone E, Gordon A, Pantos K (2011). PGD for reciprocal and Robertsonian translocation using array comparative genomic hybridization. *Hum Reprod* 26(7):1925–1935.

Fishel S, Gordon A, Lynch C, Ndukwe G, Kelada E, Thomton S, Jenner L, Cater E, Brown A, Garcia-Bernardo J (2010). Live birth after polar body array comprehensive genomic hybridization prediction of embryo ploidy – the future of IVF. *Fertil Steril* 93(3):1006.e7–1006.e10.

Forman EJ, Ferry KM, Hong K, Cheng MZ, Zhao T, Scott R (2012). Morphology plus ploidy: a prospective study comparing traditional morphology-based selection for single embryo transfer (SET) with comprehensive chromosomal screening (CCS) results. *Fertil Steril* 98(3):S18.

Fragouli E, Wells D (2012). Aneuploidy screening for embryo selection. *Semin Reprod Med* 30(4):289-301.

Friedman B (2012). Obamacare and the Court: handing health policy back to the people. *Foreign Affairs* 91(5):87-98.

Fuller E (2012). Which nation has the most *in vitro* babies? *Christian Science Monitor* [newspaper] October 4, p.3.

Gee RE, Rosenbaum S (2012). The Affordable Care Act - An overview for obstetricians and gynecologists. *Obstet Gynecol* 120(6):1263-1266.

Gleicher N, Barad D (2009). Twin pregnancy, contrary to consensus, is a desirable outcome in infertility. *Fertil Steril* 91(6):2426-2431.

Gleicher N (2011). Eliminating multiple pregnancies: an appropriate target for government intervention? *Reprod Biomed Online* 23(4):403-406.

Gutierrez-Mateo C, Colls P, Sanchez-Garcia J, Escudero T, Prates R, Ketterson K, Wells D, Munné S (2011). Validation of microarray comparative genomic hybridization for comprehensive chromosome analysis of embryos. *Fertil Steril* 95(3):953–958.

Hamilton BH, McManus B (2012). The effects of insurance mandates on choices and outcomes in infertility treatment markets. *Health Econ* 21(8):994-1016.

Handyside AH (2011). PGD and aneuploidy screening for 24 chromosome by genomewide SNP analysis: seeing the wood and the trees. *Reprod Biomed Online* 23(6):686– 691.

Hayrinen LH, Sills ES, Fogarty AO, Walsh DJ, Lutsyk AD, Walsh AP (2012). First Irish delivery following sequential, two-stage embryo and blastocyst transfer. *Ir J Med Sci* 181(3):349-51.

Hellani A, Abu-Amero K, Azouri J, El-Akoum S (2008). Successful pregnancies after application of array-comparative genomic hybridization in PGS-aneuploidy screening. *Reprod Biomed Online* 17(6):814–817.

Hidlebaugh DA, Thompson IE, Berger MJ (1997). Cost of assisted reproductive technologies for a health maintenance organization. *J Reprod Med* 1997;42(9):570-4.

Højgaard A, Ottosen LD, Kesmodel U, Ingerslev HJ (2007). Patient attitudes towards twin pregnancies and single embryo transfer - a questionnaire study. *Hum Reprod* 22(10):2673-2678.

Hvidtjørn D, Grove J, Schendel D, Svaerke C, Schieve LA, Uldall P, Ernst E, Jacobsson B, Thorsen P (2010). Multiplicity and early gestational age contribute to an increased risk of cerebral palsy from assisted conception: a population-based cohort study. *Hum Reprod* 25(8):2115–2123.

Iglehart JK (2011). Defining Essential Health Benefits — The View from the IOM Committee. *N Engl J Med* 365(16):1461-1463.

Institute of Medicine Committee on Defining and Revising an Essential Health Benefits Package for Qualified Health Plans (2011). Report on essential health benefits: balancing coverage and costs. Washington, DC: National Academies Press, October 7. Jain T, Harlow BL, Hornstein MD (2002). Insurance coverage and outcomes of *in vitro* fertilization. *N Engl J Med* 347(9):661-666.

Karlström PO, Bergh C (2007). Reducing the number of embryos transferred in Swedenimpact on delivery and multiple birth rates. *Hum Reprod* 22(8):2202-2207.

Kern SI (2009). 'Octomom' case shines light on standards of care. Med Econ 86(7):38.

Koivurova S, Hartikainen AL, Gissler M, Hemminki E, Järvelin MR (2007). Postneonatal hospitalization and health care costs among IVF children: a 7-year follow-up study. *Hum Reprod* 22(8):2136-2141.

Lai AT (2011). To be or not to be my sister's keeper? A revised legal framework safeguarding savior siblings' welfare. *J Leg Med* 32(3):261-93.

Larson C, Williams J (2003). Sociological context of TennCare. A public health perspective. *J Ambul Care Manage* 26(4):315-321.

Le Lannou D, Griveau JF, Laurent MC, Gueho A, Veron E, Morcel K (2006). Contribution of embryo cryopreservation to elective single embryo transfer in IVF-ICSI. *Reprod Biomed* Online 13(3):368-375. Lee R, Mason A (2010). Some macroeconomic aspects of global population aging. *Demography* 47 Suppl:S151-172.

Leese B, Denton J (2010). Attitudes towards single embryo transfer, twin and higher order pregnancies in patients undergoing infertility treatment: a review. *Hum Fertil* (*Camb*) 13(1):28-34.

Ledger WL, Anumba D, Marlow N, Thomas CM, Wilson ECF; COMBS Group (2006). The costs to the NHS of multiple births after IVF treatment in the UK. *BJOG* 113(1):21-25.

Liu J, Sills ES, Yang Z, Salem SA, Rahil T, Collins GS, Liu X, Salem RD (2012a). Array comparative genomic hybridization screening in IVF significantly reduces number of embryos available for cryopreservation. *Clin Exp Reprod Med* 39(2):52-57.

Liu J, Wang W, Sun X *et al.* (2012b). DNA microarray reveals that high proportions of human blastocysts from women of advanced maternal age are aneuploid and mosaic. *Biol Reprod* 87(6):148, 1-9.

Lukassen HG, Braat DD, Wetzels AM, Zielhuis GA, Adang EM, Scheenjes E, Kremer JA (2005). Two cycles with single embryo transfer versus one cycle with double embryo transfer: a randomized controlled trial. *Hum Reprod* 20(3):702-708.
Martin JA, Hamilton BE, Ventura SJ, Osterman MJK, Kirmeyer S, Mathews TJ, Wilson EC (2011). Births: Final Data for 2009. *Nat Vital Stat Rep* 60(1):1-71.

Martin JR, Bromer JG, Sakkas D, Patrizio P (2011). Insurance coverage and *in vitro* fertilization outcomes: a U.S. perspective. *Fertil Steril* 95(3):964-969.

Mather M (2012). World Population Data. Fact Sheet: The Decline in U.S. Fertility. Population Reference Bureau (Washington, DC):1-3.

Mills M, Rindfuss RR, McDonald P, te Velde E, ESHRE Reproduction and Society Task Force (2011). Why do people postpone parenthood? Reasons and social policy incentives. *Hum Reprod Update* 17(6):848-860.

Milne P, Cottell E, Allen C, Spillane H, Vasallo J, Wingfield M (2010). Reducing twin pregnancy rates after IVF--elective single embryo transfer (eSET). *Ir Med J* 103(1):9-11.

Muraskas J, Parsi K (2008). The cost of saving the tiniest lives: NICUs versus prevention. *AMA J Ethics* 10(10):655-658.

National Federation of Independent Business v. Sebelius, 567 U.S. (2012).

Neumann PJ (1997). Should health insurance cover IVF? Issues and options. *J Health Polit Policy Law* 22(5):1215-1239. Pagidas K, Ying Y, Keefe D (2008). Predictive value of preimplantation genetic diagnosis for aneuploidy screening in repeated IVF-ET cycles among women with recurrent implantation failure. *J Assist Reprod Genet* 25(2-3):103-106.

Pinborg A, Loft A, Schmidt L, Andersen AN (2003). Morbidity in a Danish national cohort of 472 IVF/ICSI twins, 1132 non-IVF/ICSI twins and 634 IVF/ICSI singletons: health-related and social implications for the children and their families. *Hum Reprod* 18(3):1234-1243.

Piyamongkol W, Vutyavanich T, Piyamongkol S *et al.* (2006). A successful strategy for preimplantation genetic diagnosis of beta-thalassemia and simultaneous detection of Down's syndrome using multiplex fluorescent PCR. *J Med Assoc Thai* 89(7):918-27.

Roberts S, McGowan L, Hirst W, Brison D, Vail A, Lieberman B (2010). Towards single embryo transfer? Modelling clinical outcomes of potential treatment choices using multiple data sources: predictive models and patient perspectives. *Health Technol Assess* 14(38):1-237.

Romney M (2007). A federalist approach. I would use federal incentives to deregulate, reform state health insurance. *Mod Healthc* 37(47):24.

Rosenthal MS (2011). The Suleman octuplet case and egregious ethical breaches. *Womens Health Issues* 21(1):98. Saie DJ, Sills ES (2005). Hyperprolactinemia presenting with encephalomalaciaassociated seizure disorder and infertility: a novel application for bromocriptine therapy in reproductive endocrinology. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* 26(5):533-535.

Salame Y, Devreker F, Imbert R, Delbaere A, Fontenelle N, Englert Y (2011). Contribution of cryopreservation in a mandatory SET policy: analysis of 5 years of application of law in an academic IVF center. *J Assist Reprod Genet* 28(11):1059-1066.

Sample I (2011). Number of IVF twins and triplets falls in line with targets as women are encouraged to have only one embryo implanted. *The Guardian* [newspaper]: May 12, p.15.

Samuel GN, Strong KA, Kerridge I, Jordens CF, Ankeny RA, Shaw PJ. Establishing the role of pre-implantation genetic diagnosis with human leucocyte antigen typing: what place do "saviour siblings" have in paediatric transplantation? *Arch Dis Child* 2009;94(4):317-20.

Schoolcraft WB, Fragouli E, Stevens J, Munne S, Katz-Jaffe MG, Wells D (2010). Clinical application of comprehensive chromosomal screening at the blastocyst stage. *Fertil Steril* 94(5):1700-1706. Schoolcraft WB, Surrey E, Minjarez D, Gustofson RL, Scott RT Jr, Katz-Jaffe MG (2012). Comprehensive chromosome screening (CCS) with vitrification results in improved clinical outcome in women >35 years: a randomized control trial. *Fertil Steril* 98(35):S1.

Sepúlveda SJ, Portella JR, Noriega LP, Escudero EL, Noriega LH (2011). Extended culture up to the blastocyst stage: a strategy to avoid multiple pregnancies in assisted reproductive technologies. *Biol Res* 44(2):195-9.

Sills ES, Schattman GL, Veeck LL, Liu HC, Prasad M, Rosenwaks Z (1998). Characteristics of consecutive *in vitro* fertilization cycles among patients treated with follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and human menopausal gonadotropin versus FSH alone. *Fertil Steril* 69(5):831-5.

Sills ES, Strider W, Hyde HJ, Anker D, Rees GJ, Davis OK (1998). Gynaecology, forced sterilisation, and asylum in the USA. *Lancet* 351(9117):1729-1730.

Sills ES, Tucker MJ, Palermo GD (2000). Assisted reproductive technologies and monozygous twins: implications for future study and clinical practice. *Twin Res* 3(4):217-223.

Sills ES, Takeuchi T, Rosenwaks Z, Palermo GD (2001). Reprogramming somatic cell differentiation and the Hayflick Limit: contrasting two modern molecular bioengineering aims and their impact on the future of mankind. *J Assist Reprod Genet* 18(8):468-470.

Sills ES, Palermo GD (2002a). Major birth defects after assisted reproduction. *N Engl J Med* 347(18):1449-1451.

Sills ES, Palermo GD (2002b). Preimplantation genetic diagnosis for elective sex selection, the IVF market economy, and the child--another long day's journey into night? *J Assist Reprod Genet* 19(9):433-437.

Sills ES, Sholes TE, Perloe M, Kaplan CR, Davis JG, Tucker MJ (2002). Characterization of a novel receptor mutation A-->T at exon 4 in complete androgen insensitivity syndrome and a carrier sibling via bidirectional polymorphism sequence analysis. *Int J Mol Med* 9(1):45-48.

Sills ES, Conway SC, Kaplan CR, Perloe M, Tucker MJ (2004a). First successful case of *in vitro* fertilization-embryo transfer with venom immunotherapy for hymenoptera sting allergy. *Clin Mol Allergy* 2(1):11.

Sills ES, Fryman JT, Perloe M, Michels KB, Tucker MJ (2004b). Chromatin fluorescence characteristics and standard semen analysis parameters: correlations observed in andrology testing among 136 males referred for infertility evaluation. *J Obstet Gynaecol* 24(1):74-77.

Sills ES, Burns MJ, Parker LD, Carroll LP, Kephart LL, Dyer CS, Papenhausen PR, Davis JG (2007). Further phenotypic delineation of subtelomeric (terminal) 4q deletion with emphasis on intracranial and reproductive anatomy. *Orphanet J Rare Dis* 2:9.

Sills ES, Walsh DJ, Walsh AP (2008). Results from the advanced reproductive technologies: fresh vs. frozen? *Ir Med J* 101(9):288.

Sills ES, Alper MM, Walsh AP (2009a). Ovarian reserve screening in infertility: practical applications and theoretical directions for research. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 146(1):30-36.

Sills ES, Murphy SE (2009). Determining the status of non-transferred embryos in Ireland: a conspectus of case law and implications for clinical IVF practice. *Philos Ethics Humanit Med* 4:8.

Sills ES, Murray GU, Genton MG, Walsh DJ, Coull GD, Walsh AP (2009b). Clinical features and reproductive outcomes for embryos undergoing dual freeze-thaw sequences followed by blastocyst transfer: critique of 14 consecutive cases in IVF. *Fertil Steril* 91(4 Suppl):1568-1570.

Sills ES, Walsh DJ, Shkrobot LV, Palermo GD, Walsh AP (2009c). Clinical experience with intravenous immunoglobulin and tnf-a inhibitor therapies for recurrent pregnancy loss. *Ulster Med J* 78(1):57-58.

Sills ES, Walsh DJ, Walsh AP (2009d). Re: outcomes from treatment of infertility with natural procreative technology in an Irish general practice. *J Am Board Fam Med* 22(1):94-95.

Sills ES, Walsh DJ, Walsh AP (2009e). Pregnancy and perinatal outcomes after assisted reproduction: a comparative study. *Ir J Med Sci* 178(1):119.

Sills ES, Brady AC, Omar AB, Walsh DJ, Salma U, Walsh AP (2010a). IVF for premature ovarian failure: first reported births using oocytes donated from a twin sister. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 8:31.

Sills ES, Collins GS, Walsh DJ, Omar AB, Salma U, Walsh AP (2010b). A descriptive study of selected oocyte, blood and organ/tissue donation features among fertility patients in Ireland. *Hum Fertil (Camb)* 13(2):98-104.

Sills ES, Mykhaylyshyn LO, Dorofeyeva US, Walsh DJ, Salma U, Omar AB, Coull GD, David IA, Brickell KM, Tsar OM, Walsh AP (2010c). The long path to pregnancy: early experience with dual anonymous gamete donation in a European *in vitro* fertilisation referral centre. *Reprod Health* 7:20.

Sills ES, Palermo GD (2010). Human blastocyst culture in IVF: current laboratory applications in reproductive medicine practice. *Rom J Morphol Embryol* 51(3):441-445.

Sills ES, Walsh DJ, Omar AB, Salma U, Walsh AP (2010d). National birth rate, IVF utilisation and multiple gestation trends: findings from a 6-year analysis in the Republic of Ireland. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 282(2):221-224.

Sills ES, Collins GS, Brady AC, Walsh DJ, Marron KD, Peck AC, Walsh AP, Salem RD (2011). Bivariate analysis of basal serum anti-Müllerian hormone measurements and human blastocyst development after IVF. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 9:153.

Sills ES, Collins GS, Salem SA, Jones CA, Peck AC, Salem RD (2012a). Balancing selected medication costs with total number of daily injections: a preference analysis of GnRH-agonist and antagonist protocols by IVF patients. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 10:67.

Sills ES, Yang Z, Walsh DJ, Salem SA (2012b). Comprehensive genetic assessment of the human embryo: can empiric application of microarray comparative genomic hybridization reduce multiple gestation rate by single fresh blastocyst transfer? *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 286(3):755-761.

Sills ES, Collins GS (2013). Preterm births in countries with a very high human development index. *Lancet* 381:1355-1356.

Stassart JP, Bayless RB, Casey CL, Phipps WR (2011). Initial experience with a risksharing *in vitro* fertilization-embryo transfer program with novel features. *Fertil Steril* 2011;95(7):2192-7.

State of California (2012a). California Health and Safety Code, Section 1367.005(a)(2)(A).

State of California (2012b). California Insurance Code, Section 10112.27(a)(2)(A).

State of California (2012c). Department of Finance Historical and Projected State and County Births, 1970-2021, with Actual and Projected Fertility Rates by Mother's Age and Race/Ethnicity, 2000-2021: State and County Birth Projections, 2012 Series.

Stromberg B, Dahlquist G, Ericson A, Finnstrom O, Koster M, Stjernqvist K (2002). Neurological sequelae in children born after in-vitro fertilisation: a population-based study. *Lancet* 359(9305):461-465.

Sunderam S, Kissin DM, Flowers L, Anderson JE, Folger SG, Jamieson DJ, Barfield WD (2012). Assisted reproductive technology surveillance - United States, 2009. *MMWR Surveill Summ* 61(7):1-23.

Talaulikar VS, Arulkumaran S (2012). Reproductive outcomes after assisted conception. *Obstet Gynecol Surv* 67(9):566-83.

Tan BK, Vandekerckhove P, Kennedy R, Keay SD (2005). Investigation and current management of recurrent IVF treatment failure in the UK. *BJOG* 112(6):773-780.

U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2008). 2006 Assisted reproductive technology success rates: preliminary data national summary and fertility clinic reports. U.S. Government Printing Office (Washington, DC).

U.S. Library of Congress (2012). Bill Summary & Status for S.965, 112th Congress (2011 - 2012) <u>http://thomas.loc.gov/cgi-bin/bdquery/z?d112:s965</u>: accessed 27 November 2012.

van Peperstraten AM, Nelen WL, Hermens RP, Jansen L, Scheenjes E, Braat DD, Grol RP, Kremer JA (2008). Why don't we perform elective single embryo transfer? A qualitative study among IVF patients and professionals. *Hum Reprod* 23(9):2036–2042.

Van Voorhis BJ, Ryan GL (2010). Ethical obligation for restricting the number of embryos transferred to women: combating the multiple-birth epidemic from *in vitro* fertilization. *Semin Reprod Med* 28(4):287-294.

Vaupel JW, V Kistowski KG (2005). The remarkable rise in life expectancy and how it will affect medicine. *Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz* 48(5):586-592.

Voelker R (2011). Researchers in Canada call for policy to mandate single-embryo transfer in IVF. *JAMA* 305(18):1848.

Voullaire L, Collins V, Callaghan T, McBain J, Williamson R, Wilton L (2007). High incidence of complex chromosome abnormality in cleavage embryos from patients with repeated implantation failure. *Fertil Steril* 87(5):1053-1058.

Walker MC, Murphy KE, Pan S, Yang Q, Wen SW (2004). Adverse maternal outcomes in multifetal pregnancies. *BJOG* 111(11):1294-1296.

Walsh AP, Collins GS, Le Du M, Walsh DJ, Sills ES (2009a). Pre-treatment preferences and characteristics among patients seeking *in vitro* fertilisation. *Reprod Health* 6:21.

Walsh AP, Shkrobot LV, Coull GD, Peirce KL, Walsh DJ, Salma U, Sills ES (2009b). Blastocyst transfer for multiple prior IVF failure: a five year descriptive study. *Ir Med J* 102(9):282-285.

Webley L (2010). Qualitative approaches to empirical legal research [Chapter 38]. *In*: Cane P, Kritzer H (eds), Oxford: Oxford Handbook of Empirical Legal Research:926-928.

Wølner-Hanssen P, Rydhstroem H (1998). Cost-effectiveness analysis of in-vitro fertilization: estimated costs per successful pregnancy after transfer of one or two embryos. *Hum Reprod* 13(1):88-94.

Yang Z, Salem S, Salem-Lyle S, Bayrak A, Salem RD (2011). Trophectoderm cells derived from blastocyst biopsy are suitable for array CGH analysis of 24 chromosomes. *Fertil Steril* 95(Suppl 4):S23.

Yang Z, Liu J, Collins GS, Salem SA, Liu X, Lyle SS, Peck AC, Sills ES, Salem RD (2012). Selection of single blastocysts for fresh transfer via standard morphology assessment alone and with array CGH for good prognosis IVF patients: results from a randomized pilot study. *Mol Cytogenet* 5(1):24.

Zegers-Hochschild F, Adamson GD, de Mouzon J, Ishihara O, Mansour R, Nygren K, Sullivan E, Vanderpoel S; International Committee for Monitoring Assisted Reproductive Technology; World Health Organization (2009). International Committee for Monitoring Assisted Reproductive Technology (ICMART) and the World Health Organization (WHO) revised glossary of ART terminology, 2009. *Fertil Steril* 92(5):1520-1524.

10. Appendix – Author's 2003-2013 publications cited in this thesis

 Sills ES, Fryman JT, Perloe M, Michels KB, Tucker MJ. Chromatin fluorescence characteristics and standard semen analysis parameters: correlations observed in andrology testing among 136 males referred for infertility evaluation.

J Obstet Gynaecol 2004 Jan;24(1):74-7. PMID: 14675988

- Sills ES, Conway SC, Kaplan CR, Perloe M, Tucker MJ. First successful case of *in vitro* fertilization-embryo transfer with venom immunotherapy for hymenoptera sting allergy. *Clin Mol Allergy* 2004 Oct 19;2(1):11. PMID: 15494069
- Sills ES, Burns MJ, Parker LD, Carroll LP, Kephart LL, Dyer CS, Papenhausen PR, Davis JG. Further phenotypic delineation of subtelomeric (terminal) 4q deletion with emphasis on intracranial and reproductive anatomy. <u>Orphanet J Rare Dis 2007 Feb</u> <u>12;2:9. PMID: 17295911</u>
- Sills ES, Walsh DJ, Walsh AP. Results from the advanced reproductive technologies: fresh vs. frozen? <u>Ir Med J 2008 Oct;101(9):288. PMID: 19051622</u>
- Sills ES, Walsh DJ, Shkrobot LV, Palermo GD, Walsh AP. Clinical experience with intravenous immunoglobulin and tnf-a inhibitor therapies for recurrent pregnancy loss. <u>Ulster Med J</u> 2009 Jan;78(1):57-8. PMID: 19252735

- Sills ES, Walsh DJ, Walsh AP. Re: outcomes from treatment of infertility with natural procreative technology in an Irish general practice. *J Am Board Fam Med* 2009 Jan-Feb;22(1):94-5. PMID: 19124642
- Sills ES, Walsh DJ, Walsh AP. Pregnancy and perinatal outcomes after assisted reproduction: a comparative study. *Ir J Med Sci* 2009 Mar;178(1):119.
 PMID: 19020923
- Sills ES, Murray GU, Genton MG, Walsh DJ, Coull GD, Walsh AP. Clinical features and reproductive outcomes for embryos undergoing dual freeze-thaw sequences followed by blastocyst transfer: critique of 14 consecutive cases in IVF. *Fertil Steril* 2009 Apr;91(4 Suppl):1568-70. PMID: 18973897
- Sills ES, Murphy SE. Determining the status of non-transferred embryos in Ireland: a conspectus of case law and implications for clinical IVF practice.
 <u>Philos Ethics Humanit Med 2009 Jul 9;4:8. PMID:19589140</u>
- Sills ES, Alper MM, Walsh AP. Ovarian reserve screening in infertility: practical applications and theoretical directions for research. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2009 Sep;146(1):30-6. PMID: 19487066

- 11. Sills ES, Palermo GD. Human blastocyst culture in IVF: current laboratory applications in reproductive medicine practice. <u>*Rom J Morphol Embryol*</u> 2010;51(3):441-5. PMID: 20809018
- 12. Sills ES, Collins GS, Walsh DJ, Omar AB, Salma U, Walsh AP. A descriptive study of selected oocyte, blood and organ/tissue donation features among fertility patients in Ireland. <u>Hum Fertil (Camb)</u> 2010;13(2):98-104. PMID: 20722579
- Sills ES, Brady AC, Omar AB, Walsh DJ, Salma U, Walsh AP. IVF for premature ovarian failure: first reported births using oocytes donated from a twin sister. <u>Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2010 Mar 25;8:31. PMID: 20334702</u>
- 14. Sills ES, Walsh DJ, Omar AB, Salma U, Walsh AP. National birth rate, IVF utilisation and multiple gestation trends: findings from a 6-year analysis in the Republic of Ireland. <u>Arch Gynecol Obstet 2010 Aug;282(2):221-4. PMID: 20464406</u>
- 15. Sills ES, Mykhaylyshyn LO, Dorofeyeva US, Walsh DJ, Salma U, Omar AB, Coull GD, David IA, Brickell KM, Tsar OM, Walsh AP. The long path to pregnancy: early experience with dual anonymous gamete donation in a European *in vitro* fertilisation referral centre. *Reprod Health* 2010 Aug 11;7:20. PMID: 20701806

- 16. Sills ES, Collins GS, Brady AC, Walsh DJ, Marron KD, Peck AC, Walsh AP, Salem RD. Bivariate analysis of basal serum anti-Müllerian hormone measurements and human blastocyst development after IVF. <u>*Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2011 Dec 2;9:153.</u> PMID: 22136508
- 17. Sills ES, Collins GS, Salem SA, Jones CA, Peck AC, Salem RD.
 Balancing selected medication costs with total number of daily injections: a preference analysis of GnRH-agonist and antagonist protocols by IVF patients. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2012 Aug 30;10:67. PMID: 22935199
- 18. Sills ES, Yang Z, Walsh DJ, Salem SA. Comprehensive genetic assessment of the human embryo: can empiric application of microarray comparative genomic hybridization reduce multiple gestation rate by single fresh blastocyst transfer? *Arch Gynecol Obstet* 2012 Sep;286(3):755-61. PMID: 22678560
- Sills ES, Collins GS. Preterm births in countries with a very high human development index. *Lancet* 2013 Apr 20;381(9875):1355-6. PMID: 23601942